# A HISTORY OF THE DIACRITICAL MARKS SURROUNDING THE TEXT OF NUMBERS 10:35 - 36

C SHOLOM EISENSTAT

JEWISH STUDIES DEPARTMENT

MCGILL UNIVERSITY, MONTREAL

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO
FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH
IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE
OF
MASTER OF ARTS

TORONTO, ONTARIO MAY, 1986

# **ABSTRACT**

In the Massoretic text of the Hebrew Bible, Numbers 10:35-36 are preceeded and followed by unusual diacritical marks. The design and precise location of these marks have been the subject of sustained discussion and debate. Though defined by Jewish law as part of its program to preserve the integrity and sanctity of the Torah text, various descriptions of the marks are known. This thesis presents an historical analysis of traditional rabbinic texts that discuss the graphic representation and location of these diacritical marks. The texts analyzed here are gleaned from classical rabbinic sources, published texts recovered from the Geniza of Cairo, Massoretic and mystical literature, rabbinic responsa and scribal compendia. Each text is translated and analyzed to reflect its own historical period and the development of rabbinic law and lore explaining the presence of the markings in the text.

Dans le texte massorétique de la Bible hébraïque, les Nombres 10:35-36 sont précédes et suivis de marquages diacritiques rares. La forme et l'emplacement exacte de ces marques ont été le sujet de maintes discussions et de longs débats. Bien que ces marques soient définies par la loi judaïque comme faisant partie de son programme de préservation de l'intégrité et de la sainteté du texte de la Torah, plusieurs descriptions de leur usage sont connues.

Cette thèse présente une analyse historique des textes rabiniques traditionels qui discutent la représentation graphique et l'emplacement de ces marques diacritiques. Les textes analysés sont extraits de sources rabiniques classiques, textes publiés, ayant été récupérés de la Geniza du Caire, de la littérature massorétique et mystique, des "réponses" rabiniques et des concordances scripturelles. Chaque texte est traduit et analysé pour refléter sa propre periode historique ainsi que le développement de la loi et la tradition rabinique que la présence de ces marquages dans le texte explique.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1)	Preface
2)	The Significance of the Text of Numbers 10: 35-36
3)	The Second to Sixth Centuries10
4)	The Sixth to Thirteenth Centuries
5)	The Thirteenth to Fifteenth Centuries: Mystical Interpretation32
6)	The Printing Press39
7)	The Sixteenth Century43
8)	The Eighteenth Century59
9)	Conclusion71
(0)	Footnotes
1)	Bibliography83
2)	Appendix85

 $\{ (x_i, y_i) \in \mathcal{A}_{i+1} : (x_i, y_i) \in \mathcal{A}_{i+1} : (x_i, y_i) \in \mathcal{A}_{i+1} \}$ 

#### PREFACE

The text of Numbers 10:35-36, as it is written in contemporary, traditionally prepared Torah scrolls and printed Hebrew texts, is preceded and followed by two graphic characters which are unique to the Torah scroll. These symbols resemble brackets surrounding words, as commonly found in modern books (see Appendix for facsimiles). In as ancient and carefully copied a text as the Torah scroll, the careful reader is likely to be left questioning the purpose and nature of these markings.

As with the rest of the Torah, its detailed lore, traditions, and law, this graphic anomaly is a witness to the tradition of change in the text of the Torah. As well, it is a product of the textual evolution of the Hebrew Bible. There is much that can be revealed about the origin, history and evolution of these two graphic symbols from the Masoretic and Halachic literature. The evidence found in these sources clearly shows that these graphic characters do have a non-Sinaitic origin in the text which is held by tradition to have come from God to the Israelite people on Mount Sinai.

Throughout the vast literature of Biblical

interpretation and legal literature, references to these symbols are recorded. Few years passed without some rabbinic interest in the interpretation, explanation or rationalization of this issue. Traditional sources reflect more than a little controversy and disagreement over the graphic symbols used to denote this special text. Even a casual glance at the Masoretic and legal literature or the manuscript evidence shows that not until our own day has there been general agreement regarding the design of the marks used to indicate the significance of this text. The necessity for the markings and their placement in the text are questioned throughout post-Mishnaic times.

The present work analyzes the abovementioned sources chronologically in order to describe the evolution which this text and its markings have undergone. The normative Jewish tradition has claimed that the text of the Torah remains as it was at Sinai. Many contemporary opinions reflect an approach to the tradition of transmission not much more sophisticated but less accurate than that. The following analysis of sources allows us to see that the evolution of the text proceeded, while, at the same time the Rabbinic authorities claimed that no change was taking place.

# INTRODUCTION

# THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE TEXT OF NUMBERS 10:35 - 36

A popularly held tradition about the transmission of the Hebrew text of the Torah states that the text has been handed down throughout the generations in a perfect form as it was given to Moses by God on Mount Sinai. This claim is based on the evidence of the Torah itself (Ex: 20:19 et al.) and its accompanying traditional lore. The oral tradition which interprets and explains the Torah also states

Moses received Torah on Sinai and transmitted it to Joshua.... $^1$ 

No less an authority than Maimonides, basing himself on Mishna Sanhedrin 10:1, proclaimed,

One who claims that the Torah is not from God, even one verse, even one letter, saying 'Moses said this on his own', denies the Torah.  $^{2}$ 

Paralleling the belief in the transmission of the Torah is the belief that since the receiving of the Torah there has been no evolution of its text. In truth, however, the learned, 'Orthodox' tradition itself is not silent on this point, nor does it support it.

The abovementioned beliefs about the transmission of the Torah pertain not only to the wording of the Torah, the text which contains the instructions, teachings and lore of the Jews, but also to the spaces it contains, the crowns on the letters, and all other graphic markings which are in the written scroll. However, the Jewish tradition itself presents significant evidence to show that the text of the Forah has some symbols of questionable authenticity and unknown origin which have themselves undergone an evolution which can be traced through the last two thousand years.

The traditional texts themselves contain convincing evidence of efforts on the part of Rabbinic leaders to 'fix' the text. This was done, when necessary, by means of additions, deletions, or changes of many kinds, to make the text agree with their notions of its perfect state. The changes made to the text referred to, in some texts,  $^4$  as Tikunei Sofrim and the textual anomalies called  $\underline{\Omega}$ ere and  $\underline{\mathrm{Ketiv}}^5$  are two of the known types of emendations which are part of the traditional lore and attributed to the Sofrim.  $^6$ 

Various reasons for the changes which were made to the text are posited. According to some authorities these changes represent the original Sinaitic text. 7 In some cases it is clear

that a profanation of the name of God was removed from the text. 8

Various types of embellishments to the text of the Torah are visible in the graphic markings which appear in the basic consonantal text. Flourishes or crowns of various shapes and sizes (Hebrew tgyn) are found on the letters \$\frac{5}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2},

Another of the graphic symbols which have been part of the text of the Torah since antiquity are the symbols which appear both before and after the text of Numbers 10:35-36. These symbols known as the "inverted nuns" are unique in the Torah and are found elsewhere only in Psalm 107. Their name stems from their most popular graphic representation, which resembles the shape of the common nun. These symbols or diacritical marks are unique in that they are not incorporated into the text itself in any way but rather stand alone, segregated from all other letters of the text.

The text of Numbers 10:35-36 reads as follows:

35) When the Ark was to set out, Moses

would say:

Advance, O Lord!

May your enemies be scattered

And may Your foes flee

before You!

36) And when it halted, he would say:

Return, O Lord,

You who are Israel's myriads of
thousands!

The verses which precede verse 33 tell of Moses' request of Yitro, his father—in—law, to accompany the nation to the Land of Israel and his subsequent refusal. Verses 33-34 tell of the nation's marching for three days looking for a resting place with the Ark of the Covenant travelling in front of them while God's cloud prevailed above them. Following verse 36, chapter 11 begins with the tale of events at Tabera where the nation complained and was punished by a ravaging fire.

The Mishna in Tractate Yadaim contains evidence that the text of Numbers 10:35-36 was considered unique and notable in ancient days. This chapter of the Mishna deals with the holiness of scrolls, <sup>13</sup> detailing that a scroll would 'defile the hands' of one who touched it if it was a holy text. The applicable Mishna (3:5) states,

If the writing in a scroll was erased yet there still remained eighty-five letters, as many as are in the paragraph "When the Ack

was to set out..." (Numbers 10:35-36), it still renders the hands unclean. A [single] written sheet [in a scroll of the Scriptures] in which are written eighty-five letter, as many as are in the paragraph "When the Ark was to set out" renders the hands unclean. 14

Thus we have here evidence that the eighty-five letter text of Numbers 10:35-36 had by this early date been established as the minimum length required for a Biblical text to be 'defiling of the hands' thus requiring its preservation from destruction. 15

The detail of this Mishna is based on the work of the Sofrim. These were the scholars who were responsible for the scribal arts required in both religious and/or state affairs. In their schools we find the origin of classical Rabbinic Bible interpretation. <sup>16</sup> Most importantly, the preservation of the already existing texts was a major concern of theirs.

Kiddushin 30a contains an etymological legend explaining why the Sofrim were called by that name.

lpykk nqr>w r>śwnym swprym śhyw swprym kl h>wtywt šbtwrh,

The earliest scholars were called Sofrim because they counted all the letters of the Torah.

Regardless of the authenticity of the this midrash, there can be no question about the centrality of the text of the Torah scroll in the occupation of the Sofer. Clearly, one of the tasks of the Sofrim was the counting and recording of the words and letters of the traditional Torah text. This record more easily allowed the accurate preservation of the texts. They worked in schools of scribes on the redaction and canonization of the text. The Scribes were, as well, the bearers of the lore which accompanied the texts which they preserved and recorded.

Few details of the actual work of the Sofrim on the ancient texts have survived. Among the Massoretic activities attributed to them are the Migra Sofrim, Ittur Sofrim (Nedarim 37b), Sofrim (Bereshit Rabbah 39:7), Diqduqei Sofrim (Sukah 28a), Divrei Sofrim (Sanhedrin 88b). These Rabbinic dicta refer to traditions about the interpretation of words and phrases in the text which were taught by the Sofrim. Just how many Tikkunei Sofrim etc. appear in the text is not apparent though a list of sixteen such occurrences appears in Midrash Tanhuma on Exodus 15:7.<sup>17</sup> An example of this kind of Soferic work is clearly visible in the Mekilta D'Rabbi Yishmael. 18 Referring to verse "Surely he that touches you touches the apple of his eye" (Zechariah 2:12) Rabbi Judah said,

"It does not say here: The apple of the eye," but: "The apple of His eye," referring, as it were, to the One above. Scripture, however, modifies the expression."

Surely the type of 'modification' referred to here is a reaction to the anthropomorphism in the text. Ιn some cases 'modifications' for similar anthropomorphisms were introduced Deuteronomy 28:27 and 30<sup>19</sup> are into the text itself. instances of note which have become incorporated into the Ketiv-Qere type of emendation. 20 Surely not all types of what have become known as Ketiv-Qere are to be considered actual emendations of the original text. In most cases a change is substituted only in the public reading of the text.

The work of the Sofrim is also evident in their introduction of graphic symbols of various kinds into the text. Though no single text is proof, it must be understood that the introduction of graphic characters into the text would have likely occurred in this period. It is accepted that the larger and smaller letters, the division of text into <u>parashot</u> and various diacritical marks in the text, including those around Numbers 10:35-36, were introduced into the text in the schools of the Sofrim. 21

The unique significance of the eighty five letter text of Numbers 10:35-36 was unquestionably part of the established tradition before Mishnaic times. The Tannaim preserved the Soferic lore about these verses in the Mishna. We will show that as time passed, as the tradition developed and was influenced by new sources and developments of the tradition itself, this significance led to the introduction of diacritical markings into the text whose original purpose was simply to offset these verses from the rest of the work.

#### CHAPTER ONE

# THE SECOND TO SIXTH CENTURIES

In Bereshit Rabbah 64:8<sup>1</sup> we find a midrashic exposition of the names of the common, traditional books of the Torah. As part of the discussion we find the following:

br kpro chd mn ro gyt dspr wydbr wcd gby wyhy bnsc horn wyomr migh spr bpny csmw wyhy bnsc horwn wdbrtyh spr bpny csmw mn tmn wcd swpyh dspro spr bpny csmw

However, bar Kappara made (counted) from the beginning of the Book of Numbers until "When the Ark began to travel, Moses said", as a book unto itself; (from) "When the Ark began to travel" and its text, a book of itself; from there till the end of the book, a book unto itself.

Bar Kappara counted the text of Numbers as three distinct texts; the first ending with verse 10:34 and the third begining with verse 11:1. Bar Kappara's opinion is reminiscent of the opinion of the Mishna, cited above, which delineates the paragraph of

Numbers 10:35-36 as the shortest single and distinct text in existence or possible.

The earliest evidence for the use of graphic symbols to denote this special text is found in Sifre on Numbers. 2 It is mentioned that Numbers 10:35-36 was denoted in a fashion described there as "dotted above and below",

wyhy boswe horwo ngwd clyw mlmelh wmlmth.

"When the ark was to set out", is dotted above and below.

It is possible to understand the phrase ngwd <lyw mlm<lh wmlmth as meaning that the text was written with dots before it and after it. From this text it can be understood that 10:35-36 was once denoted, in some fashion, with dots. Not necessarily in a fashion similar to other dotted texts which still appear in contemporary texts and scrolls. The assumption that a dotted text must have dots over or above the words or letters in question is made because of the well known occurences of this in modern scrolls and texts and ancient texts as well. This instruction is unclear and inadequate. It can also understood to mean that the text of Numbers 10:35-36 should be denoted not as those other dotted texts are ie. ngwd Glyw mlmclh wmlmth means that dots were to be placed before and after this text's words. This potentially confusing scribal instruction led to the various formats for these diacritical marks which appeared

soon after.<sup>3</sup>

Various opinions are offered in Siphre regarding the purpose of the dots in the text of Numbers 10:35-36. An anonymous opinion states, <u>mpny sl hyh zh mgwmw</u>, [its place in the text is improper]. Rabbi Shimon stated that the text beginning with Numbers 11:1 should appear in place of the present verse 10:35,

mpny \$1> hyh zh mqwmw. wmh hyh r>wy lyktb thtyw? wyhy hem kmt>wnnym

For this is not its place. What should rightfully be written following it? "The people were as murmurers".

The opinion of Rabbi agrees with the Mishna in Yadaim 3:5, mpny Shw> spr b<mm> fbecause it is a book of itself]. His statement continues,

wtywt kpršt wyhy bosws harwo mtmah at hydym

from here it is deduced that a text which has been erased but in which remain eighty-five letters as in the section of "When the ark began to travel" (Numbers 10:35-36) defiles the hands.

Rabbi's opinion is that the Mishna inherited the tradition from the Sofrim who preserved this text with its special status. The symbols around Numbers 10:35-36 are to aid in the identification of this text which has a status different from other texts. The text in question is the example for the Mishna and for this reason needed discritical markings.

The Siphre reflects the swift development of the tradition accompanying Numbers 10:35-36 after the appearance of the Mishna. The Mishna reflects a tradition whereby these two verses are considered a whole text of special status but not denoted with any symbols. This special status led to its becoming offset by 'dots' which were common markers of 'texts of special status' in the ancient world, as shown conclusively by Lieberman. Further, the second tradition in the Siphre is merely a variant explanation for the known dots. If the text belonged in a different place, in some future edition of the Torah, it would certainly have a special status worthy of being denoted in such a fashion. This future edition of the Torah is mentioned in the Babylonian Talmud Tractate Shabbat (16a) where Rabbi Shimon ben Gamliel states.

# ctydh pršh zw štycar mkon wtkto bmawmh

In the future this portion will be uprooted from here and written in its place.

Avot D'Rabbi Natan, 5 chapter 34, refers to **Yny** smnywt, 'two

symbols' which are used in the Torah for a pršh qtnh, 'a short section of text'. In answer to the query, <u>yyzw hys pršh qtnh</u>?, [Which is a short section ?], the text of Numbers 10:35-36 is referenced. Saul Lieberman has described some diacritical marks which were used in the ancient world in a similar fashion to the ones found in Avot d'Rabbi Natan. In Greek they are called semeia one called and were used to deliniate short sections of text just as they do for Numbers 10:35-36 in the text of the Torah. We have here an instance of the Rabbinic use of Greek text editing techniques. The Mishna had established the text as a 'short section' (Greek por This which was then marked as such in the fashion popular and accepted in that day.

Tractate Shabbat 16a-b gives some more insight into the various traditions which had developed to explain these symbols. One opinion claimed that the <a href="mailto:smnowt">smnowt</a>, 'the symbols' deliniated the eighty-five letter text of a single book of the Torah. This follows the opinion of the Mishna in Yadaim and is relevant to the Talmudic discussion about texts which should be preserved from destruction because of their length or importance and status as texts of themselves.

A second opinion, that of Rabbi Shimon ben Gamliel, takes the symbols to be markers of a text which should appear elsewhere but was placed here to separate two sections of the Torah which spoke of calamities, (pwrcnywt), for Israel. These are the stories ending with Numbers 10:34 and starting with Numbers 11:1. This conception of the diacritical marks around Numbers 10:35-36 is far removed from the essential ideas of the Mishna and, as will

be seen, is the beginning of one of the major midrashic explanations of the phenomenon of the diacritical marks surrounding Numbers 10:35-36.

Having seen the beginning of the midrashic tradition about these diacritical marks, we turn to the symbols themselves. The information found in extant versions of Tractate Sofrim<sup>9</sup> reflects the early confusion about the graphic symbol to be used in marking this text in question. The text of Sofrim reads,

hkwtb şryk leśwt šypwr bptyhh šl wyhy bnse

The writer, [scribe] must make a <u>Sypwr</u> at the beginning of "When the ark began to travel" (Numbers 10:35-36), above and below, for it is a text of itself.

The name of the graphic symbol to be used and thus its character and nature is not clear from the manuscripts available. Ohile some versions have only the word symn [symbol], others have either sew, (space) or what may be a scribal corruption of the word swpr, (ram's horn). The latter would surely refer to a ram's horn shape, used here to describe the graphic symbol to be written before and after Numbers 10:35-36. It is possible that the reading sew reflects a tradition wherein the text was offset by spaces. This method of marking the text would be far more typical for a Biblical text in

that all divisions and deliniations of text in the Torah scroll, other than the one found at Numbers 10:35-36, are composed only of spaces in the text. As well, all separate books in the Torah scroll itself are separated by the space of four blank lines. 11 If, as the Mishna suggests, this is a separate text, then the four-line space would be appropriate and expected. Further analysis of the history of the symbols used to mark the text of Numbers 10:35-36 will show the \(\frac{\fra

In this early period of Rabbinic history major developments had taken place in the evolution of these graphic markings. In times as early as those of the Sofrim special status had been afforded the text of Numbers 10:35-36 for unknown reasons. This special status led to the introduction of dots into the text of the Torah whereby this text was clearly offset from the surrounding text. These dots were, in time, replaced by other popular symbols whose source was in the Greek culture predominant and influencial to Judaism during the Rabbinic period.

Here we have evidence of the diacritical markings being dots. This statement is very similar to the above mentioned statement in Siphre<sup>2</sup>. More significantly, in the text from Midrash Mishle is a second, relevant statement of Rabbi Judah that the text was "a text of itself and was withdrawn". The exact meaning of this statement is not clear. It has been interpreted variously to mean that the verses comprising Numbers 10:35-36 were once part of a larger work, the whole of which was withdrawn from circulation or that these two verses were considered a work of themselves and withdrawn from circulation. The latter concept, that these verses are themselves a separate book, is familiar from Mishna Yadaim 3:5 and Bar Kappara's enumeration of the number of texts in the Torah. The former interpretation of the statement leads us to wonder about the origin of these verses. The relevant text from Midrash Haserot V'Yiterot, 4 holds a clue to that source. It reads,

tryn pswqyn šelyhn nwnyn hpwkyn wntplw btwrh
Shm mnbw>t >1dd wmydd...wyš >wmryn mlmd Shyh
Sm spr gnwz

There are two verses over which there are 'inverted nuns' which were included in the Torah for they are from the prophecies of Eldad and Medad...some say that they (the 'inverted nuns') teach that there was a

# withdrawn book (spr gnwz) there.

Here, introduced as the source of these verses, is a previously unknown text which presumably contained the literary remains of the prophecies of Eldad and Medad.<sup>5</sup>

The accuracy of the claim made in these midrashic works has been the source of discussion for many scholars but is not of relevance in this inquiry. Of importance for us is the evidence contained in these works of a rabbinic concept that the 85 letters of Numbers 10:35-36 had been introduced into the Torah from a text which had been taken out of circulation, ngnz. b More importantly, the idea that some verses of the Torah, few though they may be in this case, had their origin in another text rather than at Sinai, is of significance to the present discussion. This idea is closely akin to the previously mentioned rabbinic ideas namely that at all times this text was perceived as different from all others and thus worthy of special attention. If Numbers 10:35 and 36 did come from another text, surely preservation is required, as mentioned in the Mishna, for it is a text of itself, unique, as stated in Siphre in the name of Rabbi Judah.

The latter rabbinic idea that this text is from another source is radical for it ultimately calls into question a foundation stone of Jewish religious belief. An important pillar of the tradition has long been that the whole Torah, down to the smallest of the 'jots and tittles' is of divine origin. Maimonides stated in his thirteen principles of the tradition,

#### CHAPTER TWO

# THE SIXTH TO THIRTEENTH CENTURIES

During the period of formal Masoretic activity the Masoretes concerned themselves with the accurate recording of details concerning all markings in the Torah, be they letters or diacritical markings of any sort. Their intent was to record for posterity all details about the text of the Torah which they had received via the tradition, thus preserving the theoretically original text received on Sinai. The evidence to be presented from this period shows that a whole new series of legends had become associated with or had developed to explain the diacritical marks surrounding Numbers 10:35-36.

Both Midrash Mishle and Midrash Haserot V'Yiterot contain significant information from this period about the verses in question. In Midrash Mishle<sup>1</sup> we find

wyhy bnswe harwn byn 1melh byn 1mth ngwd.
rby amr spr hyh bpny esmw wngnz

"When the ark set forth" is dotted both above and below. Rabbi Judah says it was a text of itself and was withdrawn from circulation (ngnz).

"The Torah has been revealed from heaven: This implies our belief that the whole Torah found in our hands this day is the Torah that was handed down by Moses and that is all of divine origin."

A solution to this problem is easily proposed if it is said that the text of Numbers 10:35-36 though not of Sinaitic origin is still of divine origin i.e. the prophecies of Eldad and Medad were real prophecies and thus worthy of preservation within the Torah. Thus, the Torah remains a text wholly divine.

Notwithstanding the above compromise solution to the problem of the source of these verses, there still remains evidence for a rabbinic idea that various sources, be they all or partly divine, were used to compile the text of the Torah which exists today. This claim would not be surprising if its source were in the modern higher textual criticism of the Bible rather than mainstream rabbinic lore.

As we have seen, by the year 900 c.e. there evolved three distinct ideas about the diacritical marks which surround Numbers 10:35-36. First, we have the tradition that these marks were introduced to symbolize this text as a 'short text'. The second tradition states that the symbols offset a text which has its source in the Book of Eldad and Medad. Thirdly, one tradition held that the markings denoted the misplacement of this text in an edition of the Torah.

Lieberman, as stated above, has determind these markings to be diacritical marks used to symbolize a 'short section' of text.

This, we remember, is how the Mishna referred to the text.

Notwithstanding the theory of Lieberman about these markings, it

is certainly clear that this text had about it some very special status which was in need of a standard method of deliniation from the rest of the text. The method chosen by the scholars of the Hellenistic/Rabbinic era to single it out as that unique text with special status was found in the introduction into the text of standard, familiar, Greek, diacritical marks.

It is certain at this point that the theories the Masoretic period, as presented above, had their source the markings introduced into the text in the Hellenistic period. These diacritical marks were popular and understood in the ancient world and thus an obvious choice. An understanding of their primarily secular purpose was eventually lost to the Jewish tradition. What was preserved, however, was the notion that these markings delineated a text whose origin was different from the one which was given to Moses on Mt. Sinai. This being the meaning of the markings, the text had to have a source which claimed to be the book of Eldad and Medad.

The preservation of this text was necessitated by its being a 'short text'. This, in its Jewish context, was one fulfilling the mimimum requirements of holiness. The best method determined to preserve it was to incorporate it into another text. <sup>10</sup> The location of its placement in that host text was still under some discussion in the Talmudic period as witnessed by Rabbi Shimon ben Gamliel's statement that this text was misplaced in the Torah.

The graphic representation of the markings themselves has also undergone considerable evolution. The earliest markings

were to be dots. Under the influence of Hellenistic culture and its scribal traditions, these symbols evolved to resemble those used to mark texts of special significance. The text from Midrash Haserot V'Yiterot, mentioned above, is the earliest text in which we find the symbols around Numbers 10:35-36 described as 'inverted nuns', nwnyn hpwkyn. The evolution of a figure described as 'inverted nun' from the 'shofar-shaped' figure described in Maskehet Sofrim, is evident.

A Geniza text published by E. N. Adler is, chronologicaly, the next text which deals with this issue.  $^{11}$  As part of the discussion on the following point

wmybey lyh lswpr leswt try nwnyn hpwkyn lpršt
wyhy bnswe harwn

He must learn that the scribe is to fashion two inverted <u>nuns</u> at the section 'When the ark began to travel'?,

we find graphic representations of two diacritical marks followed by

kywş> bw ywrdy hym b>nywt <wst ml>kh

Similarly "Others go down to the sea in ships, to ply their trade in the mighty waters....." (Psalm 107:23ff).

This reference to Psalms is to the only other Biblical passage in which diacritical marks of the sort found at Numbers 10:35-36 appear. Only the shortest stretch of the imagination is needed to picture the diacritical marks which are represented in this text as having the shape of fish hooks, that which fisherman, they who "go down to the sea in ships" use in their trade. A second midrashic conection is surely to be found in that the Aramaic word 'nun' means 'fish'. 12

This text contains further evidence of the belief that the source of this text was the Book of Eldad and Medad. Clues to this period's representation of the diacritical markings around the text are also found here. It quotes a midrashic text as follows

mh rəw ḥkm(ym) lytn nwnyn hpwkyn 1 wyhy hem kmt>wnnym >1° >mrw hkmym kl htwrh kwlh mywhdt lnbw>t m\u00e4h hws mnbw>t >ldd wmydd lpykk syygn bnwn kpwp wn\u00e4pl btwrh

Why did the sages place inverted nuns on (before) 'The people were complaining'? For the sages said, 'The whole Torah is from the prophecy of Moses except for the prophecy of Eldad and Medad', therefore they were enclosed in a bent nun and included in the Torah.

We see from these texts that the technical term employed to refer to this diacritical mark had become 'inverted <u>nun</u>' (<u>nwn hpwkh</u>) and it looked like a curved or bent <u>nun</u>, (<u>nwn kpwph</u>). Oddly, the mark that appears in Adler's edition of this text is not as described in the text itself but does resemble the shofar-shaped mark of Maseket Sofrim.

Immediately following the text cited above is a forceful declaration about texts of the Torah. It outlaws scrolls in which dots appear in places other than the usual ten. This is a decree nullifying all texts of Numbers 10:35-36 in which dots appear and shows that as late as the end of the first millenium of the common era texts containing dots at this passage were still extant.

The major Masoretic work Diqduqe Ha'Teamim of Aaron ben Moshe ben Asher 13 mentions the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 as follows:

2wtywt mnwzrwt: hm ţ [9] wsymnyhwn ktybn →wt
12hwr b [2] btwrh

Segregated letters: there are nine, their symbols being reversed letters: two in the Torah....

The reference to the markings as 'segregated letters' shows that an attempt was being made in the Masoretic literature to

establish the symbols as letter-like but offset from the rest of the text. Exactly which letter was to be reversed to create appropriate marking is not mentioned. This letter-like but segregated design stemmed from need to prevent the nullification of a Torah scroll in which extraneous symbols appeared. The description of the symbols as Pwt lahwr reversed letter) shows that the intent was to ensure that it was not possible to mistake the letter-like markings for letters of the text. By segregating the symbol, whatever design, from the rest of the eighty-five letters of 10:35-36. the text itself remained unchanged. More significantly, Diqduqe HaTeamim shows that a symbol, visibly different from all other markings of any kind in the Torah, now been introduced into the scroll with little known basis and reason. 14 for no substantial. clear, and accepted The comment of Hai Gaon to Tractate Shabbat 103a<sup>15</sup> reflects authority invested in Digduge HaTeamim and its tradition. In reference to symbols which could be drawn on the Sabbath without its violation, he stated

> Synn wtywt ydwswt bktb Shn nkrowt 21° symnym b<1mo kgwn nwnyn hpwkyn dktby gby wyhy bnsws horwn

> They are symbols which are not recognized in the script in which they are found, rather symbols in the spaces 16 like the inverted nuns

(<u>nwnyn hpwkyn</u>) found at "When the ark began to travel".

In this comment, the Gaon decrees that two symbols which are not recognized letters of a common alphabetic script are not considered as actual letters, thus, they do not nullify a Torah scroll. These unrecognized symbols, "in the spaces" are the segregated symbols of Diqduqe HaTeamim.

The later Masoretic work 0 khlah  $Ve'0 \text{khlah}^{17}$  reflects the further entrenchment of these symbols in the tradition. In it we find a list titled

# t (9) pswqyn ⇒yt bhwn khdyn symn hpwkh

nine verses which have symbols similar to this inverted one.

The text of Frensdorff includes a facsimile of a reversed 'nun-shaped' symbol which is best described as similar to a partially elongated left square bracket (See Appendix). Though the approach of this author is to deny any actual graphic representations of diacritical marks found in texts printed or otherwise, the reversed and inverted nun-like marking found in Oklah Ve'Oklah is a likely representation for its supposed period of history.

It is apparent that the word <a href="https://www.npwkyn">hpwkyn</a>, as used to describe the graphic design of the markings, was interpreted in

various ways. It was understood both as inverted and as reversed. This variation in meaning proves later to be a major complication in any interpretation of the description of the discritical marks.

Our next major sources of information about the development of the diacritical marks are the commentaries of Rashi on both the Bible and the Talmud. 18 Berliner's edition of the Biblical commentary reads

cśh lw symnywt mlpnyw wml⊃ḥryw lwmr s⊃yn zh mqwmw wlmh nktb k>n kdy lhpsyq byn pwrcnwt lpwrcnwt

He made symbols before it (the text) and after it (the text) because this is not its place. Why was it written here? In order to interrupt between one calamity and another.

Rashi followed the tradition of earlier authorities placing the diacritical marks before and after the text of Numbers 10:35–36. The major deviation from the tradition of the Masoretic period is in Rashi's terminology. His descriptive use of <a href="mailto:mlpnywwml>hryw">mlpnywwml>hryw</a> to locate the markings 'before and after' is far more explicit than any previously encountered, 'above and below', <a href="mailto:mlm<">mlm<1h wmlm</a> wmlm</a>. Rashi's opinion as to the purpose of the markings was that they were to show that the present location of the text is not its proper or permanent location. It was placed

here as a buffer between two texts which told of calamities.

This is an opinion previously spelled out in Tractate Shabbat

116b-17a by an anonymous rabbi.

Rashi's comment to the use of the word <u>symnywt</u> in Tractate Rosh Hashanah 17b reads <u>byn pswq lpswq yš symnyn hpwkyn kzh</u>...

[between verses there are symbols such as these...] followed, in the printed editions, by an inverted and reversed <u>nun</u> character. The symbol represented in the printed edition of the Talmud is the symbol used by the printer/typesetter to represent the marking found in the manuscript and is not necessarily the symbol which Rashi would have chosen. The influence of the printer's ability or lack thereof, to produce an accurate or proper representation of symbols other than the standard letters is illustrated here.

The orientation of the markings in Rashi's view is to hpwkyn inverted and their placement before Numbers 10:35 after Numbers 10:36. However, it is not absolutely clear from the text of Rashi's comment whether this use of hpwkyn is to be understood 'inverted' a5 'reversed'. or as The printer/typesetter understood hpwkyn as both reversed. It is possible that the printed text does reflect an authentic design for the diacritical mark since the notion of a reversed letter was documented earlier in Digduge HaTeamim. Nevertheless, Rashi's comment is silent on the point of reversal of the letter.

The followers of Rashi preserved their mentor's tradition regarding the position of the markings before and after Numbers

10:35-36. However, the Hilkot Sepher Torah<sup>19</sup> of Jacob ben Meir (Rabbenu Tam) preserves not the inverted or inverted and reversed nun-shaped mark but a kaf-shaped mark. This could, once again, be the printer/typesetter's liberty with a manuscript but it is impossible to determine which of the two orientations is correct. The kaf-shaped marking would be close to the understanding of hpwkyn as 'inverted', as found in Rashi's comment in Rosh Hashanah. As well, it is not too distant from the nun shape in that a kaf is basically an elongated nun. It is certainly possible that Rashi's descendants chose to use the 'kaf' rather than the nun letter since Rashi's comments are not specific about the symbol to be used. Most likely Rabbenu Tam intended to follow Rashi's teaching accurately but the tradition became confused.

One would certainly have expected Maimonides to have included the relevant information about these diacritical marks in his great codification of Jewish law, the Mishne Torah. We know of his desire for accurate texts and his supposed use of a ben Asher text in compiling his laws pertaining to the writing of Torah scrolls. 20 He wrote, "He [the scribe] should be careful regarding the large letters and the small letters, the dotted letters and the different letters like the 'curled' letter pay (p"cyn hlpwpwt), and the bent letters which the scribes have copied one from another." 21 The absence of any mention of the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 at this point is odd, especially because other instances of extra-textual diacritical marks are included, specifically, the dotted letters. Maimonides

does tell us that scribal traditions which were developed by scribes themselves do not invalidate a scroll.  $^{22}$ 

Regarding the apparent ommission of various laws not found in the code I. Twersky has written,

"While the role of human fallability, the impact of forgetfulness, and the possibility of inadvertent omission must be taken into account, an attempt should also be made to identify a few basic reasons for deliberate ommission. One must be attuned to the silences as well as to the sounds of Maimonides writing.

that is known Maimonides systematically omitted laws and practices which he considered to be rooted accidental, transient, non-obligatory beliefs. As part of his quest sensitized and rationalized view of religion and morality, he wanted to jettison certain objectionable beliefs and improper customs." 23

A similar lack of information is found in the important Masoretic work of Meir Abulafia, Masoret Seyag LaTorah. 24

The witness to the next generation of Masoretic activity is the major scribal work, Qiryat Sefer by Menahem Meiri. 25 In reference to the diacritical marks around Numbers 10:35-36 Meiri states

yg mprgym mcnyn nzwrw Þhwr whn nwnyn hpwkwt gyg mhn gtym btwrh Þht lpny wyhy bnswe wþht lehryh

Some explain that the meaning of <u>mnwzrt</u> is as in the verse "they turned their backs"

(Isaiah 1:4). They are the inverted <u>nuns</u> of which there are two in the Torah, one preceeding "When the ark began to travel..." (Numbers 10:35) and one following it.

Clearly Meiri was familiar with the name and description of the segregated diacritical marks (mnwzrwt) which he tries to rationalize in a rather clever midrashic fashion. His midrashic explanation is based on a text of Numbers 10:35-36 in which the diacritical marks were nuns which were both segregated and reversed. His explanation connects the 'turning away' of Israel, from God, as described in Isaiah 1:4 with the 'turned away' or reversed orientation of the diacritical marks in the text. This is the first evidence to this date (13th century) of a rabbinic opinion in which hpwkwt was to be interpreted as 'reversed' though, if we can accept the graphic representations of various earlier texts (eg. Rashi on Rosh HaShanah, Okhlah Ve'Okhlah), in practice this had been common for guite some time.

# CHAPTER THREE

# THE THIRTEENTH TO FIFTEENTH CENTURIES: MYSTICAL INTERPRETATION

Throughout the history of the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36, there have been many efforts to justify, rationalize, or explain each format using contemporary, traditional methods of interpretation. We have seen such efforts using midrashic techniques in texts such as Ginzei Mitzrayim<sup>1</sup> and in Me'iri's Qiryat Sefer<sup>2</sup>. The ability and tendency to re-interpret the purpose or message of the diacritical marks is nowhere clearer or more significant than in the mystical tradition which began to change the face of the Jewish tradition in the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries.

The Zohar interprets the symbols found around Numbers 10:35-36 as representing the presence of God, the Shechinah. This, in itself, leads to some difference of opinion between Rabbi Eliezer and Rabbi Shimon regarding the design of the symbols. Rabbi Eliezer's opinion was that the Shechinah rested above the Ark while it travelled ahead of the body of the nation. Because of God's love for His people, the Shechinah was concerned with them, and thus, during the travels in the desert, while ahead of the mass of Israelites, she kept an eye out for the people,

khəy əyylə dezit kd ayhw azyl ahdr apwy latr dnpyq

like a gazelle which when it leaves turns to whence it came

i. e. the Shechinah's body faced forward but her eyes peered backward looking at the people. The text continues,

w"sd kd arwna hwh ntyl amr min kwmh h- late tigbwk lwn ahdr anpk lgbn kdyn n"wn athdra lgbyyhw ....kman dmhdr anpyh lman drhym,

thus when the ark travelled Moses said,
"Arise O God..."(Numbers 10:35) (he meant)
don't abandon us, turn your countenance
towards us. Then the <u>nun</u> turned its face
towards Israel....as one turns towards his
beloved.

When the ark set down to rest,

kdyn ahdra nw"n anpyh myśral wathdra lgby

then the <u>nun</u>, (the Shekinah), turned her face from the people towards the Ark.

Rabbi Shimon, on the other hand, did not wholly agree with Rabbi Eliezer. He stated,

261 hkh 12 2hdr2 2nph2 myśr21 day hky beya nwn 12thpk2 mgwn2 dahra dleyl2 hay nwn mnwzra 12hwr whay nwn barh myšr 1gby 2rwn3

but not thus did (the Shechinah) turn from Israel, when the ark rested, for if so the nun should be turned around in a manner opposite the previous one above, that is, a reversed nun (nwn mnwzrt 12ḥwr2); one nun turned backward and a second normal nun facing the Ark.

His point was that the Shechinah would never have turned its face away from the people of Israel and the orientation of the diacritical marks should reflect that. Certainly the basis for the comment of Rabbi Shimon rests in the scrolls and texts of his day in which the diacritical mark before Numbers 10:35 was identical to the mark following Numbers 10:36.

The Zoharic motif text of the gazelle looking back to whence it came is borrowed from Song of Songs 2:9. This analogy used with the symbolic interpretation of the diacritical marks is based on the allegorical interpretation of Song of Songs in which God is the lover and the nation of Israel is His beloved.

In the fifteenth century Tzemah ben Shlomo Duran of Algiers wrote a many faceted response to an inquiry regarding the purpose of the nuns at Numbers 10:35-36 and Rashi's statement that they should be located elsewhere in the Torah. 4 [See Appendix for text.] His response is a concise compendium of the mystical lore about the diacritical marks which had developed during the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries.

He begins with short reference to the statements from Mishna Yadaim 3:5 regarding eighty-five letter texts defiling the hands and the midrashic exposition showing that the Torah contains seven texts. This is followed by numerous symbolic and mystical explanations for the inclusion of <u>nun</u>-shaped symbols in the text. Duran, as he states clearly in the response, intended to include only minimal information on any of the topics he would mention,

htswbh bzh 2rwkh 21° š2ny mzkyr 1k rosy prkym 1bd

the answer to this is lengthy thus I mention only chapter headings.

He states that the markings symbolize the one hundred blessings which a Jew is to recite daily, each letter <u>nun</u> having a numeric value of fifty. Solve Another of his explanations claims that the marks separate various tales of calamities, a familiar Talmudic concept. A rather obscure explanation for the shape of the letter <u>nun</u> itself is also suggested. He states that the

shape of the letter <u>nun</u> is reminiscent of the letter 'kaf'. If the sound of the letter <u>kaf</u> is joined to the sound of the letter <u>nun</u> the word "<u>kn</u>" (nest) is formed. Following this twisted linguistic/midrashic path, he makes a veiled reference to the complaints of the Israelites, recorded in Numbers 11:1, for which the nation of Israel would afterwards lament. The root of the Hebrew for 'lament' is "<u>knn</u>", comprising the letters which make the word "<u>kn</u>", <u>kwf</u> and <u>nun</u>. Duran concludes this particular section of his response saying "<u>w>yn lglwt ywtr mzh</u>" [no more than this is to be revealed].

Duran begins his explanation of Rashi's remarks regarding the proper location of the text by, once again, using the numerical value of the letter <u>num</u>. He explains the inversion or reversal of the diacritical marks saying that marks had to be oriented as such in order to not invalidate the text by their extraneous nature. This is the same concept as introduced in Diqduke Ha'Teamim. In another place he says that this, the inversion of the letter <u>num</u>, whose numerical value is fifty, points to the location, above the present location, where, according to Rashi, the text should be,

wikh hy> hn- hpwkh klwmr yy 'n [50] prywt lm<lh mmqwm zh

therefore the <u>nun</u> is inverted that is to say that there are fifty sections of text above this place.

Thus, he determined, the proper location for our text is following Numbers 2:17.

From the information which is included in Duran's responsum, between the lines of mysticism and kabbalistic symbolism, we have few details to learn about the design of the diacritical marks. It is not at all clear from his information whether the nun-shaped symbols were to be reversed or inverted or both. The symbolism whereby the diacritical marks are used to point to the proper place in the text makes sense with either orientation since this notion is based on the numerical value and not their orientation. If the nun is inverted then it symbolizes that what is at the bottom should be above. If the symbol is reversed it shows that what came after should be before. Once again, the meaning of the word hpk (inverted) is the problem.

It is apparent that the mystical meaning of the symbols was of far more importance during this period than the details of their design. In fact, it is apparent that the mystical interest in these diacritical marks and the effort expended to rationalize their existence within the tradition of mystical interpretation led to their further entrenchment in the tradition.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

### THE PRINTING PRESS

The introduction of printing technology in the late fifteenth century and its popularization in the sixteenth century had a tremendous impact on all matters where texts of any kind were concerned. Until then all the issues of orientation and representation of the diacritical marks were decided by an individual scribe based on his learning or that of the scholars in his community. By the end of the fifteenth century, the printing press was able to spread one particular vergion of any text, accurate or not, in vast numbers to far reaching places.

The task of preparing and editing a text for printing at the famous Bomberg press in Venice fell to Felix Praetensis and later to Jacob ben Hayyim Ibn Adoniyah. In essence, they made the editorial and textual decisions as the abovementioned scribes had earlier done, but their method was different. They collected manuscripts and versions of the Torah and its accompanying Masoretic lists. Jacob ben Hayyim produced a new Masorah listing for the Second Rabbinic Bible printed in 1524. The scope of this task itself perhaps enables us to understand the apparent mistake which Jacob ben Hayyim made in editing the text of Numbers 10:35-36. The confusing and convoluted history the diacritical marks surely added to his difficult task.

For many centuries the strictest adherence to the tradition of segregating the diacritical marks from the rest of the text was observed, for obvious reasons. The weight of rabbinic opinion since the Masoretic period favoured this format. Jacob ben Hayyim rejected this tradition when he introduced two inverted and reversed nun-shaped diacritical marks into the text itself. [See Appendix for facsimile.] One of them appears in the word bnsc of Numbers 10:35 while the second, placed wholly outside the eighty-five letters of our text, is in the word kmt>nnym of Numbers 11:1.

The introduction of the symbols into the text was a radical move of which ben Hayyim must have been aware. It is far different from the inversion and/or reversal of a letter or symbol outside the meaningful text. The abovementioned evidence shows that our sages were less concerned about extraneous letters if they were outside of the actual text, but such symbols had to remain outside the text and measures had been taken to insure that they did. These measures, apparently, were unsuccessful. There is no evidence to support a claim that ben Hayyim was following an existing tradition in placing the markings in the verses themselves.

There are two sources in the traditional literature which do help explain ben Hayyim's radical departure from tradition. The comment of Rabbenu Bahya<sup>2</sup> to these verses reflects an early tradition where one of the <u>nuns</u> inside the text was differentiated from the others. He wrote,

wewd ys tem bnw"n hpwkh ky mlt bnse yrmwz Imspr yeqb

further, there is a meaning to the inverted  $\underline{\text{nun}}$  and it is that the word  $\underline{\text{bnsc}}$  hints at the number  $y \in qb$ .

The word yeqb has a numeric value of 182 as does the word bnse.

It appears that this comment reflects the num in bnse differentiated, albeit midrashically, from the rest of the text.

If this is not the case, Bahya's comment is not understood.

The major source for ben Hayyim's mistaken initiative is lists of Masoretic information which he used to compile his editions of the Masorah and the Biblical text. The note in Frensdorff's edition of Okhlah Ve'Okhlah<sup>3</sup> which details the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 and the note in the printed Bible differ in their respective lists of verses where the nwn hpwkh should appear. Okhlah Ve'Okhlah states, "t- [9] pswgyn >yt bhwn khdyn symn ... hpwkh ...." [nine verses in which there are inverted symbols like this ...]. This is followed by the following list of verses: Numbers 10:34, 10:35, 10:36, 11:1, Psalms 107:23, 107:24, 107:25, 107:26, 107:27, 107:28, 107:40, 107:41. There are twelve verses listed but only nine are to be offset by the diacritical mark. The verses 10:34 and 11:1 must have been included in this list to show that the diacritical marks were to be placed in between the verses 10:34 and 10:35 and the verses 10:36 and 11:1. How a scribe was supposed to know or

determine this is not clear. In the Bomberg Rabbinic Bible the explanatory note is similar to that of Okhlah Ve'Okhlah but the list there does not contain references to Numbers 10:34 or 11:1. The note reads, "t- [9] pswqyn ⊃yt bhwn hdyn symn ... nwn hpwkh .... Inine verses in which there are inverted symbols like this ...], followed by references to Numbers 10:35, 11:1, and various verses of Psalm 107. The note and references in Bomberg edition would surely lead one to think that the symbols belonged inside the verses themselves. One would not so readily assume this to be the case when looking at Okhlah ve'Okhlah because more than nine verses are in that list. Just as the note in the Rabbinic Bible does not list Numbers 10:34 and 11:1, the verses which should surround the diacritical mark, so it does not list Psalm 107:41 which follows a similar diacritical mark. 4 Bomberg must have been trying to get the Biblical text to agree with the details of the newly compiled Masorah by making the number of occurences of the diacritical mark in the whole Biblical text agree with the Masorah listing which he possessed or chose as accurate.

Another source which sheds light on the placement of the diacritical marks in the Bomberg Rabbinic Bible only explains the choice of letters to be offset once ben Hayyim decided to 'de-segregate' the diacritical marks. This source is the text seen earlier in which bar Kappara counted Numbers 10:35-36 as the fifth book in a Torah consisting of seven separate books. Ben Hayyim's placement of the symbols makes perfect sense in the light of this ancient opinion. He chose the initial num in this

text, i.e. the <u>nun</u> of <u>bnsc</u>, of 10:35, to mark the start of a new text. The first <u>nun</u> of the next text, the sixth book of the Torah, starting at 11:1, was treated in a similar fashion. Of course, the choice of letter was not difficult for it was determined by the weighty tradition behind the <u>nun</u> symbol, be it inverted and/or reversed. In such a fashion Bomberg printed a text in which Numbers 10:35-36 was offset from the rest of the Torah. Diacritical marks to represent the special status of this text were placed, albeit with a new twist, 'above and below' it, as some of the early evidence dealing with this text suggests is appropriate.<sup>5</sup>

In addition to the unique orientation and location of the diacritical marks in the 1524 Rabbinic Bible, those which appear in this first printed Bible are larger than the normal, common num found throughout the rest of the text.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

#### THE SIXTEENTH CENTURY

The editing and printing of Biblical texts was by no means the sole Jewish intellectual achievement of the sixteenth century. During the latter part of this century Lurianic Kabbalism developed in Israel and in Italy, while in Poland the halachists performed their pilpulistic casuistry. Moritz Steinschneider is most succinct in stating, "It was now necessary for the Orthodox Halachah to defend its authority amongst the masses." In particular, referring to matters most pertinent to this discussion, he continues, "The secret meaning ascribed to the letters of the Bible, to the signs (vowels, accents, even ornaments) and to their Masoretical rules....reached their greatest pitch". 1

It was in this turmoil of intellectual and deeply religious sentiment that the greatest authorities in each of these Jewish worlds voiced their opinions on the proper and accurate representation of the diacritical marks of Numbers 10:35-36. These authorities were Solomon Luria (Maharshal), Meir ben Gedalia of Lublin (Maharam of Lublin), Mordechai Jaffe (Levush), and the Italian masoretes Menahem de Lonzano and Yedidyah Solomon Norzi (Minhat Shai).

Solomon Luria, a prominent figure in Eastern Europe, had,

by 1567, held various rabbinic positions including one in Lublin. This very independent and outspoken figure was opposed to the pilpulistic methodology predominant around him, even in his own Yeshiva. Never one to avoid a controversial statement, Luria wrote a comment to Tractate Shabbat wherein the discussion refers to the symbols in question. There he says,

# bmdwyygym la rayty wgrwb bsyny špswlh lpy mh špslynn bhar wytr apylw awt aht

in corrected texts (<a href="mailto:mdwyqqym">mdwyqqym</a>) I did not see them (the diacritical marks) and it seems to me that they are invalid according to what becomes invalidated by even one extraneous or lacking letter.

Luria continues his comment stating his opinion that the writing of these diacritical marks in a scroll was forbidden.

Luria proposed, in the abovementioned gloss, that the reference to <u>symnywt</u> (symbols) in Tractate Shabbat was to the usual nine spaces left between 'sections' of biblical text, (<u>whsymnym šnomrw kon r"l šeśh pršh lpnyh wlohryh</u>). If this was the case, Luria continues, then the familiar <u>nun</u>-shaped diacritical mark commonly found in his day probably had their origin with a student who introduced the mark into a text for some unknown reason.

In a later responsum Luria provides the reader with a list of the many and variously designed symbols and formats for the diacritical marks used at Numbers 10:35-36.4

One of Luria's prominent pupils was Mordechai Jaffe. Jaffe left Luria's yeshiva after a few years of study, returning to Prague where he became the head of its local Yeshiva. Soon after this, in 1561, the Jews were expelled from Prague whereupon Jaffe took up residence in Italy. Shaving already begun to delve into the mystical elements of the tradition, Jaffe continued his studies to the point where in his own estimation he considered Kabbalistic study to be a "crowning jewel of spirituality".

Jaffe allowed the mystical interpretation ofthe diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 to influence halachic ruling regarding them. We see this portrayed in the position he took regarding the diacritical marks and in the apparent influence he had on his teacher, Solomon Luria, on this specific point. Above, we saw staunchly opposed Luria was to the inclusion of inverted nun symbols and the like in Biblical texts. However, after Jaffe left Italy and settled in Poland we find that Luria, who had not previously mentioned Zoharic traditions in his comments, not only mentions them but does so in the most glowing of terms. He states

°nyn °ḥr lgmry w>ynw tlwy kll bsymnym °bl

grwb ywtr 21 hpšt wmmnw tšmc š2p bymy
htn2ym hyh qb1h bydm hpykt hnwnyn 212

Sspyg np1 bnyhn byn hsprym

Afterwards, I studied the Zohar, which is the source, which is altogether different and not at all dependent on the symbols but is closer to the simple meaning of the text from which we understand that even in the days of the Tanaim the inversion of the nuns was an inherited tradition but a doubt arose amongst the texts.

Further evidence of the major influence which the traditions of mystical interpretation had on the legalists of Poland is found in the Responsa of Meir ben Gedaliah, the Maharam of Lublin, who assumed the rabbinic position, in Lublin, formerly held by Solomon Luria. 7

After an analysis of the avaiable sources, the Maharam of Lublin's final opinion is based on his interpretation of the abovementioned Zohar text.<sup>8</sup>

mšm šnw"n š1 bns yhyh mhwpkt 1gmry r>š
h lyw 1mth kzh (....) bl nw"n šl wbnhh
hy> mhwpkt mlpnym l>hwr kzh (....) ky kn
hw šm msqnt ršb"y

thus the <u>nun</u> of <u>bnsc</u> should be totally inverted, its head below, like this (....) but the <u>nun</u> of <u>wbnhh</u> is inverted inside out for such is the deduction of Rabbi Shimon bar Yohai. 9

He categorically rejected all of Luria's opinions stating, in part,

Shry Cynyk hrw>wt ShmdrSym whmprSym
Shb>ty Skwln >ynn mprSym kdbryb lkk >yn

lpswl hs"t Snktbw bh >lw hnwny"n hpwkyn
Shry yš lhn Cl mh Sysmkw

It is clear to see that none of the midrashim and the commentaries which I have brought interpret according to his statements. Therefore, a Torah scroll in which these nuns are written is not to be declared invalid for there is substantiation for this.

Having thus rejected Luria's thesis, he states his opinion that the weight of rabbinic literature throughout the ages was in favour of one or another set of symbols at Numbers 10:35-36. From the evidence available to him in the sources

Pesikta Rabati, Sifre, Zohar, Tractate Shabbat, the commentary of Levi ben Gershom, and the comments of Bahya ben Asher, Maharam admitted that the rabbinic sources were neither unanimous nor clear in their understanding of the text in Tractate Shabbat 115a. In particular, he points out that Sifre refers to a dotted text while most others refer to inverted nuns,

hmdršym hlwqym mh hn hsmnywt šhmdrš spry
swbr šhn nqwdwt nqwd <1 wyhy bnsc wkn
bswp >1py yśr>1. wkn mšm bpy hrlb"g
[Levi ben Gershom] wmdrš šl psiqt swbr
šhn nwny"n hpwkyn wkn nmş> brbynw bhyy
pršt bh<1tk

the midrashim are divided as to what the symbols (<a href="https://mxx.nc...hsmnywt">hsmnywt</a>) are; Midrash Sifre 'thinks' that they are dots on "When the ark began to travel" and after "the myriads of Israel", similarly we find in the commentary of Ralbag and the midrash Pesikta 'thinks' that they are inverted nuns and similarly we find in (the commentary of) Rabbenu Bahya in the portion of 'Baha'alotecha'".

Meir ben Gedalia of Lublin was also careful to note,

amongst the other texts and sources which he brings to bear on this problem, the lack of its mention in Maimonides' code,

wap hemb"m 10 hzkyem kmw kn 10 hzkyehnw"n hpwkh \$1 wymt teh bhen \$hyo nmsot bmswet whyo mwskmt 1k"c

And even Maimonides did not mention them. Similarly he did not mention the inverted nun of wymt trh bhrn [Terah died at Haran; Genesis 11:32] which is found in the Masorah and agreed upon by all. 10

It seems that his opinion regarding Maimonides' apparent oversight is that in cases where the Masorah is clear on an issue or where authorities were in agreement on a particular point of textual detail, then Maimonides found no need to include the detail in his code.

It was now fifty years since Bomberg's edition of the Rabbinic Bible had appeared, and reaction to its mistake at Numbers 10:35-36 was due. This reaction came from, the heart of the Kabbalistic world, from Menahem de Lonzano in his work 'Or Torah'. 11 Born in Constantinople, de Lonzano spent many years in Safed, with Isaac Luria (The Ari) and his disciples, before travelling to the other Kabbalistic centre, Italy.

De Lonzano's lengthy note on the text of Numbers 10:35-36 focusses on the design and placement of the discritical marks

in the Bomberg/ben Hayyim Bible of 1524. His intent in commenting on the mistakes found in the printed Rabbinic Bible was to rectify what he saw as the sad state of the text resulting from the proliferation of various mistakes in Bomberg's Rabbinic Bible.

He opposed the absence of segregated symbols before and after the text of Numbers 10:35-36 saying,

\$10 \$\frac{1}{2} \$

He didn't put any segregated <u>nun</u> whatsoever in the two spaces before and after the section of "When the ark began to travel" (Numbers 10:35) while in all the scrolls of Spain and Franco/Germany there are two segregated <u>nuns</u>, one in the space before "When the ark began to travel" and one (at) "And the nation was...(Numbers 10:36).

De Lonzano also points out that the second mistake made in the Bomberg Rabbinic Bible was the inversion of the <u>nuns</u> in <u>bns</u> and in <u>kmt>nnym</u>. He says that this was a popular mistake in contemporary texts,

wtcwt hiny wgm hw- bk"d hgdwl ihpk nwn il bnsc wnwn il kmt⊃nny- zwhy tcwt mpwrsm,

The second mistake, also found in the 'Great 24' [the Bomberg Rabbinic Bible] where the <u>nun</u> of <u>bns</u> and the <u>nun</u> of <u>kmt nnym</u> are inverted. This is a well-known mistake.

even though the text of Sefer Kanah, popular in his day as a mystical interpretation of the Torah, interpreted this text according to the mistake in Bomberg's Bible. To prove that Bomberg's editors were incorrect, de Lonzano brings three items of proof. Firstly, the evidence found in Shabbat 115b,

12 2mrw 212 Kşryk symnywt 1pnyh wlahryh
Ki prkt wyhy bnse 1hprydh msw- pr- Kipnyh
wmthylt prkh Kahryh abl hawtywt Kopswqym
12 sww wla cih ci ibm iknwtm wlhpkm

They only said that 'symbols' (symnywt) should appear before and after the text of Numbers 10:35-36 in order to separate it from the end of the previous section and the beginning of the next section

whereas they commanded nothing nor did anything even occur to them regarding changing the letters of the verses or inverting them."

Secondly, singling out the particular verses which are delineated in the Rabbinic Bible, he says, has no authority,

w>ylw ldbry hmdpys- l> nštnw >l> pswq wyhy bnsc wpswq wyhy hcm šnmş> bm nwn mnwzrt >k šty hpysqwt hry hn kš>r kl pysqwt šbtwrh bly šwm šnwy wkl zh hpk h>mt

As for what the printers did in changing only the verses "When the ark began to travel" and "The nation was" in which we find segregated <u>nuns</u>, specifically, these two sentences (<u>hpysqwt</u>) are like all the other sentences of the Torah with no difference. All of this is the opposite of the truth.

Thirdly, he saw the lack of clarity in the Masoretic list of Okhlah ve'Okhla, which was pointed out above, as a source for this mistake.

De Lonzano also took exception to the published design of

the <u>num</u> in their mistaken locations. This third mistake of the printers was in inverting the symbol as well as reversing it left to right. Very clearly de Lonzano declares, <u>wzh 1?</u>

<u>Clh Cl dCt 2dm mCwl - wl2 nkwn 1CSwt kk</u> [this never occurred to anyone and it is incorrect to do sol. He bases his opinion on the explanation of the Zohar as to what the <u>num</u> in one or another particular orientation was to symbolize, as explained earlier. He added that in addition to the clear lack of justification for the inversion of the letter, the concept of propriety regarding a Torah scroll would preclude such an inversion,

wd y 5 yn zh drk kbwd klpy m lh lhpwk r 3 kh lmt - wrgl - lm l -.

Certainly this, to invert the head downward and the foot upward, is not respectful of heaven.

In addition to the abovementioned reason given for the claimed improper inversion of the symbols in the Bomberg text, de Lonzano, in another vein, proposed a rationalization for that particular mistake. His explanation affords us an interesting insight into the then new technology of the printing press. Apparently unaware of the reversal of the num in texts which pre-dated mechanical printing techniques, de Lonzano laid the blame for this orientation on the

wydcty gm any śqś- hwa bmlakt hdpw- lcśwnwn mnwart khikth am 12 gycśwh wytknwlkthih wyś bah twrh abi hnwnyn hmwsqwt
wmawmnwt ihm ay apśr ihpk hpnym lahwr am
la yhpkw hrag imth whrgi imci- myhw hrwaaynw ywdc śmlakt hdpws hkryh ah diaw kwiy
cim- bdpw- bqyay ak hwa hwsb sbkwnh ncśh

I also know that in the printing craft it is difficult to make a segregated nun, as the law prescribes, if it i s not specially made to start with. There is much work involved in this. However with the poured (a reference to the method of preparing typeface in his day) available nuns it is not possible to reverse the 'inside to out' [hpnym laḥwr] without inverting them top to bottom [hr> 1 mth whrgl lm<1-], nevertheless the person seeing this does not know that the craft of printing forced this, for not all are knowledgable in printing, rather he thinks that it was done intentionally as such.

Notwithstanding the above astute comment of de Lonzano, one wonders just what he is referring to when looking at the text of the Rabbinic Bible. In it the symbol used for the diacritical marks, where they do appear, does not appear to be the same as any other <u>nun</u> of the text would look if inverted and reversed as he suggests. It appears that de Lonzano was wrong on both counts. However, what is most significant here, is that technology had now become not only the means of producing a text but also an excuse for its integrity or lack of integrity.

Regarding the symbol which de Lonzano felt should appear in the text, we also have a significant turn of events. Resulting from all the discussion of locations and designs so far, de Lonzano concludes with a summary of existing formats and designs followed by his own opinion as to what the diacritical marks should look like. Firstly, he observes that the scrolls of Spain and Ashkenaz followed the design of Recanti, "like a man bowing on his knees, his face and body as usual but his feet reversed backwards", [k>dm hkwr< <1 brkyw \( \) brkyw \( \) pnyw wgwpw ksdrn wrglyw hpwkwt \( \) 13 hwr\( \) . But the Zohar's description and interpretation of this issue led him away from this design. He states,

1kn hskmty 12m- šhnzyrh hnkwnh hy2 hnmş2t
bqst sprym gm bpsyqth šl wynysy šmhpkyn
kl hnwn 12hwr kzh

therefore I have agreed to say that the proper segregation is that which is found in a number of books also in the Pesikta of Venice [presumably an edition of Pesikta published by Bomberg] where the whole <u>nun</u> is inverted/reversed like this....[The diagram/facsimile is lacking in this particular edition. Perhaps the publisher neglected to add it into to the finished printed text.].

De Lonzano states that his own opinion on the matter would have a <u>nun</u> shaped symbol with the 'head' reversed but the 'feet' remaining in place. This would be a backwards 'zed' shape,

wmh m3d hyyty śmh lrowt pylw mępty swrh ślyśyt bh nwn hnzyr- śyhpkw rośh wpnyh lohwr wynyhw rglh lpnym kzh)

I would be very happy to find a third shape in which the segregated <u>nun</u> is inverted and reversed but leaving its foot forward, like this.

(See Appendix for facsimile). However, though he found this

(See Appendix for facsimile). However, though he found this design to be the accurate interpretation of the Zohar, since he had never seen such a design in a text of the Torah, he deferred to the Zoharic design,

kywn \$1° mş>ty şwrh zw bšwm spr ><"p

\$sbr- nkwnh hy? hnny mbtl >t dety whkll

hewlh \$swrt hnwn hmnwzrt h>mytyt hy?

lhpwk kl hnwn l>hwr kzh ky kn mwrh l\$wn
hzwhr.

Since I have not found this form in any text [perhaps 'scroll'], even though it is proper, I rescind my opinion. The general principle which arises is that the shape of the real segregated nun is to reverse the whole nun for this is what the text of the Zohar teaches.

The final decision of this great Masoretic scholar is that the diacritical mark should be separate from the text, in the space before Numbers 10:35 and after Numbers 10:36, in the shape of a normal, common, <u>nun</u> but wholly reversed. This would closely resemble a left square bracket.

A major traditional authority on matters of the text as detailed by the Masoretic tradition also stemmed from the sixteenth century in the person of Yedidya ben Solomon

Lonzano while the two of them were in Italy together. Jaffe had already returned to Poland but had surely left behind information about Poland and its traditions, particularily those of Luria.

Norzi heavily depended on de Lonzano's Or Torah and the information of that witness to the Safed scribal tradition. Though Norzi is considered a formidable authority in Masoretic and textual matters, he does not take a very firm stand on the orientation of the symbols save for his opposition to the Bomberg design, not mentioned by name but rather by description, and other diacritical marks which appeared in some scrolls.

It is apparent from the various descriptions which Norzi includes in his comment that a few major designs and formats for the diacritical marks had become most popular throughout the Jewish world. Firstly, the Bomberg anomaly, towt zhapwrsm [This mistake is well known.], is mentioned. This is followed by a tradition which denoted inverted, nun-shaped markings, larger than a normal letter, before and after the text of Numbers 10:35-36. In referring to the dots which are mentioned in the Siphre, Norzi claims, 12 ydoty mh hmh 21w hnqwdwt [I do not know what those dots are.]. 13 He says that in a few texts, 14 an inverted and reversed nun-shaped symbol appears as denoted in the Zohar and the Pesikta. Norzi drew on his familiarity with the Sephardic tradition in referring to a tradition which denoted a 'zed'-shaped diacritical mark before and after Numbers 10:35-36, which, he says is based on

the design of the Recanti.

The sixteenth century had come to a close with no further rectification of the problem found at Numbers 10:35-36. In historical fact, the evolution of all the various traditions left the issue farther from conclusion.

## CHAPTER SIX

## THE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY

We follow the diacritical marks surrounding Numbers 10:35-36 and the traditions regarding their placement and orientation into the eighteenth century via the Responsa of Ezekial Landau (1713-1793). As the leading Polish halachic authority of the generation which saw the rise of Hassidism, Landau responded to many inquiries. One of them concerned extraneous characters which, when found in a Torah scroll, might nullify it.

Landau's remarks regarding the whole topic of the inverted <u>nuns</u> reflects a frustration with the persistent problem of these diacritical marks. He says,

wcl dbr hnwny"n hpwkyn šharyk. 12 ydcty
swrk harykwt bzh wkbr haryk rš"l btšwbh
c"g. whnh mymy ayn dcty nwhh lharyk
bdbr šayn lw yswd bgm- wbpwsqym ky mh
šla ntbar bgm- ayn lnw mqwm lemwd bw el
hamt

Regarding the lengthy issue of the inverted nuns. I don't understand the

need for such lengthy (discussion) on this; Rabbi Solomon Luria already dealt with this at length in his Responsa #73. I am not willing to deal with this at length for it (the issue) has no foundation in the Talmud or the arbiters of rabbinic decisions (pwsqym) for there is no foundation of truth for anything which is not explained in the Talmud.

However, with all due respect to Luria's opinions, and a request for his pardon, Landau proceeds with a full negation of Luria's already infamous opinion based on a thorough analysis of many of the relevant halachic texts which he provided in his responsum. After dealing with the primary problem of his questioner Landau turned to the issues which stem from the responsa of Solomon Luria. Landau questions Luria's basic understanding of the issues regarding the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36. Landau states,

which both sprs mhrs" dbry hgmr- \$1> q>y

Cl nwny"n kll rg Cl hpsq prsywt >ny tmh

Regarding Rabbi Solomon Luria's explanation of the Talmudic argument,

that it didn't pertain to <u>nuns</u> at all but rather to spaces left between the chapters, I am surprised.

Thus, according to Landau, Luria missed the mark on the whole issue. Landau laid the blame for Luria's misunderstanding on his not having available Hai Gaon's comment on the issue of the diacritical marks. Landau quotes Hai from the previously mentioned reference to his remarks found in Joseph Caro's commentary to Maimonides' Mishne Torah, the Kesef Mishne. Landau's comment to this is as follows:

hry \( \frac{\frac

For our Rabbi Hai mentioned the inverted nuns which are explained in [the Talmudic chapter] 'All Writings' where the intent of the gemarah was to refer to these symbols, the inverted nuns which are one and the same as the symbols themselves and not as Rabbi Solomon Luria would have it in his

explanation that the inverted <u>nun</u>s have no roots in the Talmud.

Landau added an interesting editorial note regarding his trust in Hai's interpretation of this issue. He states.

wrbynw hay bqy bpyrws hgmra tpy mynyh whzwhr sdyyn la ntglh bymy rbynw hay

Rabbi Hai was expert in interpretation of the Talmud more than he (Luria) and the Zohar was not yet revealed in the days of our teacher Hai.

Landau's message is clear; the evidence of a scholar as great as Hai is far more important than any halachic derivation based on any later sources, even, or perhaps especially, a source as weighty as the Zohar. Landau defers to a source closer to the Talmudic origin of this issue, one not influenced by the mystical school of thought. Landau is saying, correctly, that when analyzed from its Talmudic source, without the layers of interpretation imposed by the mystical tradition, this problem is not nearly as complicated as it had been made out to be by Luria and others who were overly involved in or swayed by the mystical school of interpretation. Landau also shows how the placement and design of the diacritical

marks in the Bomberg Rabbinic Bible was incorrect.

Having mentioned the Talmudic source in Tractate Shabbat many times and having taken exception to one of the most popular explanations of this source, Landau gives an outline of the argument found there. He concludes,

wikh heygr šnwny"n hmnwzrym hm symnyn Cwmdym bp"c >ht qwdm wyhy bnswc w>ht qwdm wyhy hcm >hry klwt p- wyhy bnswc brywh hpršywt

Therefore, the essential idea is that the segregated <u>nuns</u> are symbols which stand alone, one before "When the ark began to travel" and one before "The nation were as murmurers" after the end of the section "When the ark began to travel" (placed) in the spaces (between the sections).

Using this format, Landau says, both the Talmudic opinions of Rabbi Judah and that of Rabbi Shimon ben Gamliel, regarding the purpose of the diacritical marks, are satisfied.

Landau's final opinion, after all the discussion is said and done, is as follows.

n"1 \(\frac{2}{3}\) \(\frac{2}{3}\) \(\frac{1}{3}\) \(\frac{1}

It seems to me that one should place after the end of "from the camp" (Numbers 10:34) which is before the ark began to travel" 10:35), in the middle of the line a space (the length of) nine letters followed by a segregated nun followed by a space (the length of) two or three letters followed by the beginning of "When the ark began to travel" on the same line, as if it were a 'closed' section of text. Following the end of "the myriads of Israel" (Numbers 10:36) one should leave a space (the length two letters followed segregated nun followed by a space (the

length of) nine letters on the same line. The next line should begin the section "The nation were as murmurers" (Numbers 11:1). In this fashion one will have averted al 1 doubts about the format the segregated nuns. This is as stated the Or Torah [Menahem de Lonzano].

Landau's opinion is, however, not the only major, eighteenth century, responsum on the issue. Rabbi Simha Hayim Rapoport was questioned regarding the discrepancies found between Torah scrolls of Poland and those of Prague at Numbers 10:35-36. His response compared to Landau's essay on the issue reflects, in no uncertain terms, the disparity of opinion on contemporary issues in distant lands.

Rapoport arrives at the conclusion that the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 should be written in the text itself ie., the <u>nun</u> of <u>bnsw</u> and that of <u>kmt>wnnym</u> should be inverted and reversed. This is the opinion as presented by Rapoport's mentors Solomon Luria and the Maharam of Lublin. This halachic ruling is arrived at through yet another thorough analysis of the literature. A major foundation of Rapoport's thesis is his claim that decisions arrived at by using the opinion of Rashi, as found in Tractate Rosh HaShanah, are false because Rashi is

often wont to interpret a text not according to the established halachah but rather in a fashion which keeps the understanding of the text on an uncomplicated level,

drk rš"y hy> tmyd lprš >p sl> >lyb<
dhylkt> mpny šrṣh lqrb hpy- hywtr pšwt
kmbw>r bmpwršy rš"y kmh pcmym.

It is Rashi's method to interpret not in accordance with the halacha because it is his desire to bring the simplest interpretation as is stated in Rashi's commentary a number of times.

Rapoport also contradicts the opinion of de Lonzano.

Just how detailed and complicated the issue of the text of Numbers 10:35-36 and its accompanying diacritical marks had become by the eighteenth century is made even clearer in the encyclopaedic work of scribal halachah by Abraham ben Zvi Jaffe.<sup>2</sup>

Jaffe begins Chapter 24 of his work, which deals solely with the particulars of Numbers 10:35-36, as follows,

 Part
 Part

Sh¢tyqw hswprym ⊃yš mpy ⊃yš kw- wbprt nwny"n hpwkyn šmwzkr g"k bzwhr wspry qblh lkn şryk lbrr ⊃yh mqwm kbwdm

Even though it is forbidden to change the form of any letter as mentioned in the previous chapter, the Semag and the Tur wrote in the name of the Rambam "one should be careful regarding the inverted letters" etc. which were copied by the scribes one from another especially the inverted nuns which are also mentioned in the Zohar and the books of the Kabbalah, therefore it is necessary to clarify what their honoured place is.

Jaffe is very clear in his expression of the basic complexity of this issue. He is well aware that the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 have changed over the years as scribes have learned their tradition one from another. It is even possible to hear a hint of blame in his words directed towards the scribes who were supposed to preserve the text of the Torah rather than complicate its transmission.

Jaffe points out that there are two powerful traditions regarding the placement of the marks. One

tradition would have them placed in the spaces between the sections of the text, before Numbers 10:35 and after Numbers 10:36, while the other places them in the text itself, at two or more of the possible locations. The tradition in Jaffe's own community seems to have been the former, "y"> d>swr l<śwtn brywwh hpršywt kmw s>nw nwhgyn" [Some say it is forbidden to make them in the space between the sections as our tradition has it.]

Jaffe brings numerous references to traditional sources which support one or another placement of the <u>nuns</u> in the text. He lists various opinions:

- a) Those who place them in the words bnsc and wbnwhh
- b) Those who place them in the words <u>bnse</u> and kmt>nnym
- c) Those who place them in the words bns and wbnwhh and kmt>nnym.

Each of the many opinions mentioned in Jaffe's work is quoted in the name of at least one authority who supported that opinion. Many of the opinions to which Jaffe refers, he says, are based on the Zohar which, as we know, is a confusing source and open to various, even contradictory, interpretations. Regarding the diacritical mark itself, Jaffe refers to a 'universally accepted' (lk"<) opinion, based on the Zohar, which would have the <u>nun</u> of <u>bnse</u> inverted (mhwpkt).

Other opinions listed:

a) both nuns inverted

- b) only the first nun inverted
- c) various uncommon designs for marks for both nuns
- d) the first <u>nun</u> written normally while the second <u>nun</u> is inverted (so that when placed side by side a common final 'mem' would be the result).
- e) "the correct authentic form" (<a href="https://www.hswnh.newnh.

Jaffe mentions a design for the diacritical marks which he, like de Lonzano, would have liked to see. It would have the "head and face" of the <u>nun</u> reversed (<u>Syhpkw r>Shwpnyh lphwr</u>) and the "leg" of the <u>nun</u> left as is, <u>wynyhwrghh lpnym</u>. This design is intended to be reminiscent of a person who faces backwards while walking. It is, as Jaffe says, the opposite image of the design which Recanti had mentioned which would resemble a man bowing at the knee in supplication. The latter, according to Jaffe, is the design found in many Sephardic scrolls.

After all of Jaffe's analysis is said and done, his final decision states clearly that the diacritical marks should be placed outside of the text of Numbers 10:35-36 in the spaces before and after the two verses. However, if in any scrolls the diacritical marks were found in the verses themselves, the deciding factor in correcting them or not was to be the age and value of the scroll, 2m hm s"t y\u00e5nwt wyqrwt bwd2y 2yn 1\u00e51wh yd wlhgyh. On the other hand, a scroll in which no markings whatsoever were found would not be invalidated.

## CONCLUSION

The conclusions to be drawn from the above analysis of the relevant sources are important for an understanding of the history of the development of the Biblical text.

It has been shown that throughout the past two thousand years, since pre-Mishnaic times, there has been a dynamic evolution of the text of the Torah. As well, it has been shown that the existence of these markings was never unknown, ignored or considered irrelevant to the Rabbinic authorities.

The absolute origin of the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 is shrouded in mystery. Lieberman has determined that the <u>nun</u>-shaped symbols are diacritical marks of Greek origin and that their introduction into the text by the Rabbinic authorities occurred during the Hellenistic period. Their introduction was later rationalized and justified using both Mishnaic and Talmudic proof texts. Once the tradition of their inclusion took hold, their removal from the sacred text was impossible though there was always discussion about their location and design.

The notion that these diacritical marks were mistakenly introduced into the text, as segregated characters or otherwise, was suggested at least once. If true, this reflects the tradition's inability to deal with such an

by an authority, that authoritative stamp is most difficult for the tradition to remove, if at all possible. Many cases to illustrate this point are described above. Proving the point, even the final halachic rulings dealing with the writing of Numbers 10:35-36 leave much room to validate the scroll which was written according to one or another of the 'incorrrect' traditions. On the other hand, if the need for the diacritical marks is 'real', as described by whatever theory, we see how vast is the tradition's ability to interpret a misunderstood tradition in order to preserve it for all generations.

The evidence of the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 shows just how difficult it is for scribal traditions to die; perhaps more importantly it shows how readily they adapt to life and initiate an evolutionary process of their own.

The issues behind the marks at Numbers 10:35-36 were unclear and were difficult to understood by generations of scholars. In each generation someone managed to incorporate a new justification or rationalization for their existence in order to preserve this particular tradition of textual interpretation. Most often the rationalization/justification of the inherited tradition was accomplished through the placing of a new generational layer of traditional interpretation onto the previous ones. The case of the diacritical marks at Numbers 10:35-36 is a good example of the effects of tradition. While firmly believing that the text never changes, the tradition itself changed the text. While it proceeded to change the text the fashion in which it did, within the bounds of tradition and halachah, allowed the tradition to continue to claim that the text had never, would never, and was not changing. The changes made to the text in any generation were accompanied by that generation's prevailing style or method of interpretation.

#### **FOOTNOTES**

Translations of text from the Torah are from <u>The Torah The Five Books of Moses</u> (Philadelphia: The Jewish Publication Society of America, 1962).

Bab. = Babylonian Talmud

#### INTRODUCTION

- 1) Exodus 24:4,7 and Deuteronomy 31:9. Mishna Avot 1:1.
- 2) Mishne Torah, Hilchot T'shuvah 3:8; Menahem Meiri, Qiryat Sefer, ed., M. Hershler (Jerusalem: Masorah Press, 1967), Essay 2, Part I; Sifri, Shelach 112.
- 3) David ben Solomon Ibn Abi Zimri, <u>Responsa</u>, (reprint ed., New York: Otzar Ha'Sefarim, 1966), 1:20.
- 4) For discussion of the authenticity of the reading <u>tyqwn</u> <u>swprym</u> as 'corrections of the Scribes' see Saul Lieberman, <u>Hellenism in Jewish Palestine</u> (New York: The Jewish Theological Seminary of America, 1962), p. 29 ff.
- 5) Robert Gordis, <u>The Biblical Text in the Making A Study of the Khetib-Qere</u> (reprint ed., New York: Ktav Publishing House, 1971).
- 6) Varying lists of the Tikunnim are found in the following texts:
- Jacob Lauterbach, ed. <u>Mekhilta de-Rabi Ishmael</u>, 3 vols. (Philadelphia: The Jewish Publication Society of America, 1933; reprint ed., Philadelphia: The Jewish Publication Society of America, 1976), 2:43.
- S.H Horowitz, ed. <u>Sifri d'be Rav</u>, (Jerusalem: Wahrmann Books, 1966), Numbers 10:35.
- Y. S. Norzi, Minhat Shai, (reprint ed., Jerusalem: Shocken Publishing House Ltd., 1958), Zechariah 2:12.

Lieberman, Hellenism, 20-21.

- 7) "Some...denied that the Soferim ever altered the text of Scripture. They explained the Midrashic passages to mean that the Bible itself employed euphemistic expressions. The Soferim only taught the original meaning of these euphemisms." Lieberman, <u>Hellenism</u>, p. 29. Evidence for textual anomalies of various types originating with the Sinaitic text is found at Bab. Menahot 29b and Bab. Nedarim 37b-38a.
- 8) As listed in Bereshit Rabbah on Gen. 18:22 and Mekilta on Exodus 15:7.
- 9) Menahot 29b.
- 10) Not all manuscripts or scrolls agree about the letters majoris and minoris as detailed in Yeivin, <u>Introduction to the Tiberian Masorah</u>, The Society of Biblical Literature Massoretic Studies, Number 5, ed. E.J. Revell (Missoula, Montana, 1980) #84 & #85.
- 11) A comprehensive list of these verses appears in Yeivin, Introduction, # 45.
- 12) As stated in Numbers Rabbah 3:39 and Avot D'Rabi Natan, Chapter 34.
- 13) For a discussion of the Rabbinic concept of 'books which defile the hands' see S. Leiman, The Canonization of Hebrew Scripture The Talmudic and Midrashic Evidence, Transactions of The Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, vol. 47 (Hamden, Conn.: Archon Books, 1976), pp. 102-120.
- 14) Herbert Danby, trans. and ed. <u>The Mishna</u>, (London; Oxford at the Clarendon Fress, 1933), p. 781.
- 15) Another instance of the recording of an eighty-five letter text occurs in Targum Yerushalmi in reference to the eighty-five letters which appear in Deut 32:1-2 and the first two words of 32:3.

The Bible interpreter Hezkiyah ben Manoah explained the issue as follows. Moses, not wanting to be presumptuous used the example of the angels to determine when Gods's name could be said properly and reverently. The angels would say God's name only after saying the three words "qdws qdws" which comprise twelve letters. Moses, not wanting to appear haughty in the face of God or the angels, pronounced the name of God in Deuteronomy 32 only after pronouncing eighty-five letters, seven times as many letters as the angels would utter before saying God's name. Those are the 85 letters before the name of God in Deuteronomy 10:32. (H.D Chavell, ed., Hizkuni: Bible Commentary of Hizkiyah ben Manoah (Mosad HaRav Kook.

Jerusalem, 1981), Deut. 32.).

- 16) M. Segal, Mavoh Ha'Mikrah, vol. 1: General Introduction, The Torah, The Early Prophets, The Later Prophets; vol. 2: The Writings, The History of the Bible Text; 2 vols. (Jerusalem: Kiryat Sefer, 1973), 4:847-8.; Robert Gordis, The Biblical text in the Making, p. xxi.; Salo Baron, A Social and Religious History of the Jews, (New York: Columbia University Press), Volume 1, p. 397, note 20.
- 17) cf. Minhat Shai on Zehariah 2:12.
- 18) Jacob Lauterbach, ed. <u>Mekhilta de-Rabbi Ishmael</u>, Vol. 2, p. 43.
- 19) Israel Frankel, <u>Peshat in Talmudic and Midrashic</u> Literature, (Toronto: La Salle Press, 1956), pp. 154-155.
- 20) Gordis places all similar instances where the guarding of, "the reader against blasphemy, obscenity, or error" is the intent of the modification into the category of Ketiv-Qere. (Robert Gordis, The Biblical Text in the Making, p. xxix.
- 21) It is difficult to determine whether recorded statements which reflect modification of a text evidence of the author's interpretive casuistry or actual textual change or preservation of ancient traditions of textual interpretation. It is possible to claim that the Sofrim didn't change the existing text of the Torah but rather preserved lore which interpreted the written text so as to remove anthropomorphism and blasphemy etc. Thus, so this theory claims, the apparent textual changes really have their origin at Sinai in the original version of the Torah, i.e. the original scribe had made the changes to avoid writing blasphemy. (M. Rosenbaum, et al., trans. and ed. The Pentateuch with Rashi's Commentary, 5 vols. (New York: Hebrew Publishing Co, 1939), vol. 1 (Genesis) p. 266, (note to p. 74 no. 3)). Bab. Megilah 19b states, "This teaches us that the Holy One, blessed be He, showed Moses Dikdukei Torah and Dikduke Sofrim and the future innovations of the Sofrim". But this theory cannot hold true for all the occurences of Tikune Sofrim and Iture Sofrim and what appear to be diacritical marks in the text of the Torah. The references to the three scrolls found in the Azarah (Jerusalem Talmud Megilah 4,2 and Masekhet Sofrim 6,4) are enough evidence to show that rabbinic authorities of the Mishnaic period were aware that their predecessors had emended the text αf the Furthermore, the Iturei Sofrim (Bab. Talmud Nedarim 37b) where the conjunctive vav was dropped in certain instances are evidence of purely textual changes with no interpretive

overtones. (C.D. Ginsburg, <u>Introduction to the Masoretico-Critical Edition of the Hebrew Bible</u> (reprint ed., New York: Ktav Publishing House, 1966).p. 349 ff.) Midrash Rabbah on Numbers 3:39 shows Ezra himself as the source of the diacritical marks known as the 'dots', 2m ybw> 2lyhw wy>mr lmh ktbth >wtn? >wmr lw: kbr nqdty clyhm. w>m y>mr ly yph ktbt kbr >mhwq nqwdwtyhn mclyhn.; M.Z. Segal, Mavoh HaMikrah, vol. 2 pp. 859-860.; Bleddyn J. Roberts, The Old Testament Text and Versions, (Cardiff, University of Wales Press, 1951), p. 1-39.; Lieberman, Hellenism, pp. 20ff.

## CHAPTER ONE

- 1) J. Theodor, Ch. Albeck, <u>Midrash Bereshit Rabba</u>, (Jerusalem: Wahrman Books, 1965), p. 708).
- 2) Horowitz, Siphre D'Be Rav, pp. 64 and 80.
- 3) Lieberman's own translations reflect this exact confusion in Lieberman, <u>Hellenism</u>, p. 38.
- 4) Ibid., Hellenism pp. 41-46.
- 5) Judah Goldin, ed. <u>Abot De'Rabbi Natan The Fathers</u> <u>According to Rabbi Natan</u>, (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1955).
- 6) Lieberman's translation as "Which is (the) small section?" is not the only way to read the text.
- 7) Saul Lieberman, Hellenism, p. 42.
- 8) Presumably these are the stories of Jethro's refusal to accompany Moses and the Israelites to Canaan and the story of the Israelite's complaints.
- 9) M. Higger, ed. Maseket Sofrim, (reprint ed., Jerusalem: Makor Publishing,  $\overline{1970}$ ) 6:1.
- 10) Kasher, <u>Torah Shelemah</u>, v. 19, p. 367.; Lieberman, Hellenism, p. 39.
- 11) Bab. Baba Batra 13b; Palestinian Talmud Megilah 1.1, 71d; Maseket Sopherim, ed. Higger, 2.6.

## CHAPTER TWO

- 1) Solomon Buber, ed., Midrash Mishle, (Vilna: Widow and Brothers Romm, n.d.; reprint ed., n.p., 1965), 50b.
- 2) Horowitz, Siphre D'be Rav, p. 80.
- 3) S. Leiman, "The Inverted Nuns at Numbers 10:35-36 and the Book of Eldad and Medad," <u>Journal of Biblical Literature</u> 93 (1974): 348-355; B. Levine, "More on the Inverted Nuns of Num. 10:35-36, "<u>Journal of Biblical Literature</u> 95 (1976): 122-124.
- 4) S.A. Wertheimer, ed., <u>Batei Midrashot</u>, 2 vols. (Jerusalem: Mosad HaRav Kook), vol. 2: <u>Midrash Haserot</u> Ve'yeterot p. 274.
- 5) See Numbers 11. For a detailed picture of the status of these individuals in ancient Rabbinic literature see A. J. Heschel, Torah Min HaShamayim b'Ispaqlaryah Shel HaDorot [Ancient Jewish Theology], 2 vols. (Jerusalem: Soncino Press, 1962), pp. 2:17 ff; M. Kasher, Torah Shelemah, pp. 19:366-369.

The basis for the notion that there was a text which contained the details of the prophetic adventure of Eldad and Medad is Numbers 11:26, whmh bktbym.

- 6) See Leiman, The Inverted Nuns at Numbers 10:35-36 and the Book of Eldad and Medad and Levine More on the Inverted Nuns of Num. 10:35-36 for a discussion of the meaning of this word.
- 7) J. Abelson, "Maimonides on the Jewish Creed," <u>Jewish</u> Quarterly Review <u>Original Series</u> 19 (1907): 53-54.
- 8) See Heschel, Torah Min HaShamayim, p. 418-419.
- 9) A similar method of text preservation is apparent in the collection of texts, The Minor Prophets.
- 10) See essay on this issue in Kasher, <u>Torah Shlemah</u>, vol. 19.
- 11) E. N. Adler, ed., <u>Ginzei Mitzrayim An Eleventh Century Introduction to the Hebrew Bible</u>, (Jerusalem: Makor Publishing, 1970), p. 37-38.
- 12) The fish hook shape closely resembles the letter <u>nwn</u> of the early Hebrew script. The representation of the symbols as they appear in Adler's edition is not to be trusted even though the midrashic connection to Psalm 107 would lend credence to it. Lieberman also reproduced the symbol (Hellenism p. 40). As well, the symbol found in Adler's

edition etc. is found with a dot above the hook-shaped symbol, a detail not found in the text itself. It is possible that this dot is a remnant from the earlier 'dot' version of these diacritical marks.

Use of the ancient letters in texts is not unknown especially in the Dead Sea Scrolls where they are often used to write the four letter name of God (YHWH) i.e. they were used in special places. There may be a parallel to their use here in this Geniza text. This particular 'fish hook' shaped symbol actually appears in a scroll found at Qumran; see Malachi Martin, The Scribal Character of the Dead Sea Scrolls, 2 vols. (Louvain: Publications Universitaires, 1958) p. 150.

- 13) Aaron Dotan, ed., <u>The Diqduqe HaTeamim of Aharon ben</u>
  <u>Moshe ben Asher with a Critical Edition of the Original</u>
  <u>Text from New Manuscripts</u> (Jerusalem: The Academy of the Hebrew Language, 1967), p. 53.
- 14) The Baer-Strack edition of Diqduqe HaTeamim (S. Baer and H. L. Strack, eds. <u>Diqduqe HaTeamim</u> (reprint ed., Jerusalem: Makor Publishing, 1970), p. 47) contains a supposed facsimile of the 'reversed' letter. It is remarkably similar to the ancient <u>nwn</u> and/or the fish hook symbol found in the abovementioned geniza text published by E.N. Adler.
- 15) Benjamin Menasseh Lewin, ed. <u>Otzar HaGeonim</u>, vol. 2 (Maskhet Shabbat); Otzar HaPerushim #232, pg. 66.
- 16) Perhaps "symnym belme" is to be understood as random symbols. Even so the intent of Hai's statement remains unchanged.
- 17) S. Frensdorff, ed., Okhlah ve-Okhlah (Hanover: n.p., 1864), list 169.
- 18) A. Berliner, ed., <u>Rashi Al Ha'Torah</u> (Jerusalem: Kiryah Ne'emana, 1962), p. 298; <u>Manfred R. Lehmann</u>, ed., <u>The Commentary of Rashi on the Pentateuch</u> (New York: Manfred and Anne Lehmann Foundation, 1981), p. 131.
- 19) S. Hurwitz, ed., <u>Mahzor Vitry</u> (Nurenburg: J. Bulka, 1923), p. 668.
- 20) Moses Maimonides, <u>Mishne Torah</u>, (Laws of Tefillin, Mezuzah, and Torah Scrolls) 8:4; Moshe Goshen-Gottstein, "The Authenticity of the Aleppo Codex," <u>Textus</u> 1: p. 17-58; J.S. Penkower "Maimonides and the Aleppo Codex," <u>Textus</u> 9.
- 21) Moses Maimonides, Mishne Torah, (Laws of Tefillin, Mezuzah, and Torah Scrolls) 7:8.

- 22) Mishne Torah, Hilchot Sefer Torah 7:10-11.
- 23) I. Twersky, <u>Introduction to the Code of Maimonides</u> (Mishneh Torah), (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1980), p. 234-235.
- 24) Meir Abulafia, Masoret Seyag LaTorah (Firenzia: n.p., 1750). Regarding the apparent ommission of diacritical marks from Sefer Taghin (S. Sachs Liber Coronularum (Sefer Taghin), (reprint ed., Jerusalem 1975: Orient and Occident Publishing House for International Scientific Cooperation) it is claimed that the author of Sepher Taghin was concerned with 'crowns' on letters i.e. textual accourrements whose purpose is beautification and decoration of the text. Specially designed letters were out of the scope of this text; M. Kasher Torah Shelemah, vol. 29 p. 86.
- 25) Menahem Me'iri, <u>Qiryat Sefer</u>, ed., M. Hershler (Jerusalem: Masorah Press, 1967), p. 37.

#### CHAPTER THREE

- 1) E. N. Adler, Ginzei Mitzrayim.
- 2) M. Meiri, Qiryat Sefer.
- 3) Rueben Margoliot, ed., <u>The Zohar</u>, 3 vols. (Mosad HaRav Kook: Jerusalem, 1946), vol. 3-4, pp. 309-310.
- 4) Shimon ben Shlomo Duran: Responsa Yahin u-Boaz, (Livorno: Abraham Yitzhak Castillo, 1783).
- 5) Menahot 43b.

## CHAPTER FOUR

- 1) Jacob ben Hayyim Ibn Adoniyahu, ed., Introduction to <u>Biblia Rabbinica</u> (A reprint of the 1525 Venice Edition), by Moshe Goshen-Gottstein, (Venice: Bomberg Press, 1525; reprint ed., Jerusalem: Makor Publishing Ltd., 1972), pp. 6-7.
- 2) Bahya ben Asher, <u>Midrash of Rabbenu Bahya on the Torah</u>, (n.p.: Otzar HaSefarim, 1967), vol. 2, Numbers, p. 12.

- 3) S. Frensdorff, Ochlah Ve'Ochlah.
- 4) In fact, the Bomberg edition of Psalm 107 does not have any extraneous graphic characters inside the text at all. The characters which I assume are the inverted <a href="https://www.nwm.summus.com/mwns/mwns/">nwns</a> are in the margin to the right of the text as in the case of other Masoretic notes and symbols.
- 5) Another example of the placement of the diacritical marks inside the text rather than segregated from the text was published by C.D. Ginsburg (C.D. Ginsburg, The Masorah Compiled from Manuscripts Alphabetically and Lexically Arranged, (Vienna: Carl Fromme, 1883), 2:259). The symbol reproduced there, though, is not the typical inverted and/or reversed nwn but is a 'zed' shaped symbol akin to the one found in Adler's text from the Geniza.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

- 1) M. Steinschneider, <u>Jewish Literature from the Eighth to the Eighteenth Century</u>, trans. W. Spottiswoode (London: n.p., 1857; reprint ed., New York: Hermon Press, 1970), p. 228.
- 2) Encyclopaedia Judaica, 2nd ed., s.v. "Luria, Solomon," by I. M. Ta-Shma.
- 3) S. Luria (Maharshal), Hochmat Shlomo HaShalem de'Rabenu Shlomo Luria, (Cracow: n.p., ca., 1580: reprint ed., Jerusalem: Makor Publishing, 1972), vol. 1, p. 120.
- 4) Responsa of Maharshal (Solomon Luria), (n.p.: 1574), Number 73.
- 5) Encyclopaedia Judaica, 2nd ed., s.v. "Jaffe, Mordehai," by Ephraim Kupfer.
- 6) Responsa of Maharshal, p. 205.
- 7) Encyclopaedia Judaica, 2nd ed., s.v. "Lublin, Meir ben Gedalia," by Shlomo Eidelberg.
- 8) Meir ben Gedalia, <u>Responsa</u>, (reprint ed., Brooklyn: n.p., 1961), #75.
- 9) It is of importance to contrast the decision taken by Meir ben Gedalia based upon the Zoharic material with a responsum of David ben Solomon Ibn Abi Zimra (Radbaz) (David ben Solomon Ibn Abi Zimra, Responsa, (reprint ed., New York: Otzar HaSefarim, 1966), 1:20.) on a parallel

issue. He was questioned regarding the emendation or correction of Torah scrolls based upon textual information found in the Zohar, <u>cl mh šeśh had mhmthkmym śhgyh kl</u> hsprym 'l py hmdrš <u>sl rby śmewn bn ywhoy</u>, "Regarding what one of the 'intellectuals' did in emending all the texts according to the midrash of Rabbi Shimon ben Yohai". his response to this query Radbaz is very clear in his opposition to what seems to have been the popular practice of correcting plene and defective spellings according to variant readings in the midrashic literature. On this point Radbaz says, yš lhgyh hsprym am nmşaw hypk mmh šktwb bgmr> >bl kl ml whar dl npq mynh lenyn dyn >l mdr belmh l ngyh swm apr >l py hdr h wl >l py hmarh >l> 'zlynn btr rwb', "It is necessary to emend texts if the opposite of what is found in the Gemarah is found in them but rather a plene or defectiva spelling which is not the basis for a law but rather for a midrash should not be emended. We should not emend any text according to the derash nor according to the Massorah rather we follow the majority". Though Ibn Zimra was referring to existing textual emendations and Maharam was lending support to an established textual tradition, Maharam's final proof based upon exactly that which Radbaz says is no proof all. This is interesting in that Radbaz was a product of the mystical tradition though its influence over him did not sway him to prefer it over the halachic tradition in matters of textual integrity as it did Maharam.

## 10) cf. Rashi ad locum.

- 11) Encyclopaedia Judaica, 2nd ed., s.v. "de Lonzano, Menahem ben Judah," by David Samuel Loewinger; Menahem de Lonzano, Shtei Yadot, vol. 1: Or Torah, (Amsterdam: n.s.; reprint ed., Berlin: n.p., 1745).
- 12) Encyclopaedia Judaica, 2nd ed., s.v. "Norzi, Jedidiah Solomon Raphael ben Abraham", by H. J. Zimmels.
- 13) The very scant mention of the dots mentioned in the Siphre text leads me to believe that Norzi was speaking of a source which reflected an opinion on this matter rather than any actual existing texts. It is safe to say that by his day texts which contained dots at Numbers 10:35-36 were not common. This in and of itself is evidence of the drastic textual changes which have occured in this part of the text.
- 14) Since the invention and proliferation of the printing press it is not altogether clear in which sense the word 'spr' is used since both its meanings 'book' and 'scroll' are interchangeable. I have here translated 'spr' as 'text' to reduce the confusion. It is not clear whether Norzi is referring to scrolls or printed texts.

## CHAPTER SIX

- 1) Ezekial Landau, <u>Responsa of the 'Noda B'Yehuda'</u>, 2 Vols, (New York: S. Goldman Otzar Hasefarim, 1973), Yoreh Deah #74.
- 2) Abraham ben Zvi Jaffe, <u>Sefer Mishnat Avraham</u>, (n.p.: n.p., 1867; reprint ed., Jerusalem: n.p., 164), Chap. 24.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1) Abulafia, Meir. Masoret Syag LeTorah, Firenzia: n.p., 1750.
- 2) Adler, E. N., ed. <u>Ginzei Mizrayim An Eleventh Century Introduction to the Hebrew Bible.</u> Jerusalem: Makor Publishing, 1970.
- 3) Ben Yehudah, Eliezer. A Compete Dictionary of Ancient and Modern Hebrew. New York: Thomas Yosseloff, 1960.
- 4) Berliner, A. <u>Rashi al Ha'Torah</u>. Jerusalem: Kirya Ne'emana, 1962.
- 5) The Bible, <u>Torah</u>, <u>Nevi'im</u>, <u>K'tuvim</u>. Jerusalem: Koren Publishing, 1982.
- 6) Buber, S. Midrash Mishle. Vilna: Widow and Brothers Romm, n.d.; reprint ed., Jerusalem: n.p., 1965.
- 7) Dotan, Aaron, ed., The Diqduke Ha'Teamim of Aharon ben Moshe ben Asher with a Critical Edition of the Original Text from New Manuscripts. Jerusalem: The Academy of Hebrew Language, 1967.
- 8) Encyclopaedia Judaica, 2nd. ed., (1972). sv. "Jaffe, Mordehai," "de Lonzano, Menahem ben Judah," "Lublin, Meir ben Gedaliah," "Lwow," "Norzi, Jedidiah Solomon Raphael ben Abraham," "Rapoport".
- 9) Frensdorff, S., ed., Okhlah Ve'Okhlah. Hanover: n.p., 1864.
- 10) Ginsburg, C. D. <u>Introduction to the Massoretico-Critical Edition of the Hebrew Bible</u>. New York: Ktav Publishing, 1966.
- 11) Goldin, Judah., ed. <u>Abot de'Rabbi Natan [The Fathers According to Rabbi Nathan]</u>. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1955.
- 12) Heschel, A. J. <u>Torah Min Ha'Shamayim B'Ispaklariya Shel Ha'Dorot [Ancient Jewish Theology]</u>. Jerusalem: Soncino Press, 1962.

- 13) Higger, M., Ed. <u>Masekhet Sophrim</u>. Jerusalem: Makor Publishing, 1970.
- 14) Horowitz, H. S. ed., <u>Siphre D'be Rab</u>. Jerusalem: Wahrmann books, 1966.
- 15) Hurwitz, S., ed. <u>Mahzor Vitry</u>. Nurenburg: J. Bulka, 1923.
- 16) Jaffe, Abraham ben Zvi. <u>Sefer Mishnat Avraham</u>, n.p.: n.p., 1867; reprint ed., Jerusalem: n.p., 1964.
- 17) Jastrow, Marcus. A Dictionary of the Targumim, et al.. New York: Jastrow Publishers, 1967.
- 18) Kasher, Menahem. <u>Torah Shlemah</u>. New York: American Biblical Encyclopaedia Society Inc., 1949.
- 19) Leiman, Sid. <u>The Canonization of Hebrew Scripture: The Talmudic and Midradshic Evidence</u>. Hamden: The Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, 1976.
- 20) \_\_\_\_\_\_, "The Inverted Nuns as Numbers 10:35-36 and the Book of Eldad and Medad." <u>Journal of Biblical Literature</u> 93 (1974): 348-355.
- 21) Levine, B. "More on the Inverted Nuns of Numbers 10:35-36" Journal of Biblical Literature 95 (1976): 122-124.
- Lieberman, Saul. <u>Hellenism in Jewish Palestine</u>. New York: The Jewish Theological Seminary, 1962.
- 23) De Lonzano, Menahem. <u>Shtei Yadot</u>. Vol. 1 <u>Or Torah</u>. Amsterdam: n.d.; reprint ed., Berlin: n.p., 1745.
- 24) Lublin, Meir ben Gedalia. <u>Responsa</u>. Brooklyn: n.p., 1961.
- 25) Luria, S. (Maharshal) <u>Hochmat Shlomo Ha'Shalem Le'Rabbenu Shlomo Luria</u>. Cracow: n.p., ca. 1580; reprint ed., Jerusalem: Makor Publishing, 1972.
- 26) \_\_\_\_\_, <u>Responsa.</u> n.p.: n.p., 1574.
- 27) Maimonides, Moses. Mishne Torah.
- 28) Margoliot, Rueben. <u>The Zohar</u> 3 vols. Jerusalem: Wahrmann Books, 1972.
- 29) Marguiles, M., ed. <u>Midrash Va'Yikrah Rabbah</u>. Jerusalem: Wahrmann Books, 1972.

- 30) Me'iri Menahem. <u>Kiryat Sefer</u>. Edited by M. Hershler. Jerusalem: Masorah Press, 1967.
- 31) Recanti, Menahem ben Benjamin. <u>Perush Al Ha'Torah</u>. Venice: n.p., 1523.
- 32) Steinschneider, M. <u>Jewish Literature from the Eigth to the Eighteenth Century</u>. Translated by William Spottiswoode. London: n.p., 1857; reprint ed., New York: Hermon Press, 1970.
- 33) Theodor, J. et al., <u>Midrash Breishit Rabba</u>, 3 vols. Jerusalem: Wahrmann Books, 1965.
- 34) Twersky, Isadore. <u>Introduction to the Code of Maimonides (Mishne Torah)</u>. Yale Judaica Series, Vol. 22. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1980.
- 35) Wertheimer, S., ed. <u>Batei Midrashot</u>. Jerusalem: Wahrmann Books, 1965.
- 36) Yeivin, Israel. <u>Introduction to The Tiberian Masora.</u> Translated by E. J. Revell. Missoula, Montana: Scholars Press, 1980.

# APPENDIX

- 1) Facsimile of Numbers 10-35-36 from contemporary published edition of the Hebrew Bible; (Koren Publishing, Jerusalem).
- 2) Various designs of the inverted  $\underline{\mathsf{nwns}}$ ; Menahem Kasher,  $\underline{\mathsf{Torah}}$  Shelemah Vol. 19)
- 4) Facsimile of Numbers 10:35-36 from Bomberg's Second Rabbinic Bible.
- 5) Facsimile of Psalms 107 from Bomberg's Second Rabbinic Bible.
- 6) Responsa of Tzemah ben Shlomo Duran.

🌣 לְצִבְאֹתֶם וְעַׁל־צְבָאֹו אֱלֵישָׁמֶע בֶּן־עַמִּיהְוּד: וְעַּל־צְבָא מַטֵּה בְּנֵי מְנַשֵּׁה גַּמְלִיאֵל בֶּן־פְּדָהצִוּר: וְעַׁל־צְבָּא מַטֵה בְּנֵי בִנְיָמֵן כּי 🖘 אָבִידָן בֶּן־גִּדְעוֹנֵי: וְנָסַע דָּגֶל מַחֲנֵה בְנֵי־דָוֹ מְאַפֵּף לְכָל־ הַמַּחֲנָת לְצִבְאֹתָם וְעַּל־צְבָאוֹ אֲחִיעֶזֶר בֶּן־עַמֵּישַׁדִּי: וְעַל־ בּ יּנְבָּא מַטֵּה בְּנֵי אָשֵר פַּגְעִיאֵל בָּן־עָּכְרָן: וְעַׁל־יְנְבָּא מַטֵּה יּ בְּנֵי נַפְּתָלֵי אֲחִירַע בֶּן־עִינָן: אֵלֶה מַסְעֵי בְנֵי־יִשְׁרָאֵל לְצִבְאֹתֲם יי וַיִאמֶר מֹשֶּׁה לְחֹבָּב בּּן־רְעוּאֵל הַמִּדְיָנִיֹ חתן משה נָסְעִים אַנָּחָנוּ אֵל־הַמַּקוֹם אַשֵּר אַמֵּר יהוֹה אתו אָתַן לָכֶם לְכָהָ אִהָּנוֹ וְהַטַבְנוּ לֶּךְ כֵּייהוָה דְּבֶּר־טָוֹב עַל־יִשְׁרָאֵל: וַיִאפֶר אֵלָיו לָא אֵלֵךְ כִּי אִם־אֶל־אַרְעֵי וְאֶל־מִוּלַדְתַּי אֵלֵךְ: כֹּ וַיֹּאמֶר אַל־נָא תַּעַוָב אֹתָנוּ כִּיוּעַל־כֵּן יַדַעָתַ חַנֹהַנוּ בַּמִּדְבָּר 🌣 יְהָיֵיתָ לֶּנוּ לְעֵינָיֶם: וְהָיָה בֵּירתֵלֶךְ עָמֶנוּ וְהָיָהוּהַטִּוֹב הַהֹּוֹא בֹּ אֲשֶּׁר וֵיטָיב יהוָה עִפָּנוּ וְהַטַבְנוּ לֶךְ: וַיַּסְעוֹ מֵהַר יהוֹה דֶּרֶךְ הֹּ שְלַשֶּׁת יָמֶים וַאֲבוֹן בְּרִית־יהוֹה נֹסֵעַ לִפְּנֵיהֶם דֶּרֶךְ שְלֹשֶׁת יָמִים לָתִוּר לָהֶם מְנוּחָה: וַעֲנַן יהוָה עֲלֵיהֶם יוֹמֶם בְּנָסְעָם מָן־ 😁 וַיְהַי בִּנְסָע הָאָרן וַיִּאמֶר משֶה קוּמָהו 🕾 יהוֹה וְיָפְּצוֹ אִיְבֶּׁיךָ וְיָנֻסוּ מְשַׁנְאֶיךָ מִפָּנֵיךָ: וּבְנָחֹה יאמַר שּוּבָה יהוֹה רֲבַבְוֹת אַלְפֵי יִשְׁרָאֵל: וַיְהֵי הָעָם בְּמִתְאַנֵגִּים רֻע בְּאָזְנֵי יהוָה וַיִשְׁמַע יהוה וַיָּחָר אַפּׁוֹ ַוַתְּבָעַר־בָּם אֵשׁ יהוֹה וַתְּאכַל בִּקְצֵה הַמַּחֲנֶה: וַיִּצְעַק הָעָם 🤢 אֶל־מֹשֶה וַיִּתְפַּלֵּלָ מֹשֶה אֶל־יהוֹה וַתִּשְׁקַע הָאֵש: וַיִּקְרֵא שֵם־ ַרָּפָּסְרֹּ הַּנְעֵרֶה כִּי־בֶעֲרֶה בֶּם אֵשׁ יהוָה: וְהָאסַפְּסְרֹּ הַ אֲשֶׁר בְּקַרְבֹּוֹ הַתְאַוּ תַּאֲוָה וַיָּשֶׁבוּ וַיִּבְכֹּוּ גַּם בְּנֵי יִשְׁרָאֵׁל וַיָּאמְרֹוּ ַבְי יַאֲכָלֵנוּ בָּשָר: זָלַרְנוּ אֶת־הַדָּגָה אֲשֶׁר־נֹאכַל בְּמִינְרֵיִם חִנָּם יַ אָת הַקַשָּאִים וָאֵת הָאַבַטְחָים וָאֶת־הַחָעִיר וָאֶת־הַבְּצָלֵים ּ וְאֶת־הַשּוּמֵים: וְעַתָּה נַפְּשֵנוּ יְבֵשָּה אֵין כָּל בִּלְתַּי אֶל־הַמָּן ַ עֵינֵינוּ: וְהַבָּּוֹן כִּוָרַע־גַּר הָוּא וְעֵינִו כְּעֵין הַבְּרְלַח: שָּׁטוֹ הָעָם

(1): 6(1) 6(T) 6(4) 6 (A) 1 (X)

1 12 2 2 1 1 (22 2 (21 ) (20 ) 1 (14 ) 1 (15 ) 1 (15

				<del></del>
2 Reg. 7, 12.	ויקם המלך	ן לְהַּחָבָ <i>ה</i>	1	J 178.
Jer. 2, 24.	למר מרבר	ָפֶּרָ <i>ה</i>		ג' נו"נין כתבין זעירין וסימניהון
Jer. 49, 10.	כי אני חשפתי	וָגֶתְבָּה		
Jer. 52, 33.	את בגדי	רְשִׁנָּה		In 3 Wörtern steht ein Nun fin., das kleiner ist, als die übrigen Buchstaben im Worte.
Ez. 14, 4.	לכן דבר אותם ואמרת	בָה	б	ubrigen Buchstaben im Worte.
Ps. 81, 4.	תקעו בחרש	בַכַּכָּטָת		וּנְבוּשַׁזְבָּן וישלת נבוורארן Jer. 39, 13.
Job 26, 9.	מאחו פני	כָּמֵּה		ארוים ויקת תרוה Jes. 44, 14.
Dan. 2, 11.	ומלתא די מלכה • קדמ' דפ'	מַלְכָּה		ואלון
Dan. 10, 14.	וכאתי להבינך את אשר	יִקְרָה		ן וְנְרְבָּן איש תהפכות ישלח מרון Prov. 16, 28.
	*.		10	
	ולבד ממסורתא			179.
Num. 23, 3.	י ויאמר בלעם לבלק	יָבֶּרֶה		מ' פסוקים אית בהון כהרין סימן ב הפוכה וסימניהון
Dan. 2, 5.	ענה מלכא	מִלְתָּה		Bei 9 Versen ist ein Zeichen wie ein umgekehrtes Nun
1 Chr. 4, 17.	ובן • ד"ה	עורה	15	angebracht.
Dan. 2, 44.	וביומיהת די מלכיא אנת	ומַלְכוּתָה		וענן ה' עליהם יומם Num. 10,84.)
Dan. 5, 5.	בה שעתא נפקו	שַׁיַנַתָּא		ויהי בנסע הארן Num. 10, 35.)
Jer. 8, 22.	שובו בנים	אֶרְפָּה		ובנחה יאמר Num. 10, 36.
Jer. 8, 15.	קוה לשלום • ר"פ	מַרְפֵּה		ויהי העם כמתאנגים אננים אוהי העם כמתאנגים
Ez. 4, 7.	ואל מצור ירושלם	חַשׁוּפָה	20	יורדי הים כאניות Ps. 107, 23.
Esra 4, 16.	' מהודעין	אַנַיִּזנָה		'המה ראו מעשי ה Ps. 107, 24.
Esra 4, 16.	אנחנה למלכא}	וְשׁוּרַיָּה		ויאמר ויעמר רוח סערה Ps. 107, 25.
Esra 4, 16.	די הן קריתא לנ' בפסוקא	רנה		יעלו שמים ירדו תהומות Ps. 107, 26.
				יחנו וינועו כשכור Ps. 107, 27.
		]:	25	יצעקו אל ה'בצר ובתרי' Ps. 107, 28.
				שפך בוו על נריבים Ps. 107, 40.
	181.			וישנב אביון מעוני Ps. 107, 41.)
ב' מלין חסרים ד' כמצע' תיבות' וקרי' וסי'				·
2 Wörter werden mit Daleth in der Mitte gelesen, das in			20	180.
der Schrift fehlt.				ר"ג כלין כתבין ה' בסוף תיבות' וכל דכו' כתי' א' וסי'
הַ מר ואת בעלת ואת תמר .18 Reg. 9, 18 דמלכי'			13 Wörter haben ein He am Ende, die sonst immer mit Alef schliessen.	
Dan. 2, 9.	די הן חלמא לא תהורענני	רִּוְ_מִנְ <b>תּוּו</b> ּ	35	נְקָרֶה ואמרתם אליו ה' אלהי Ex. 3, 18. העבריים
				בי רק שג מלך הכשן Deut 3, 11.
				ו Reg. 10, 19. לַכָּהַה שש מעלות

והיה הטוב ההוא מה טובה הטים לו אמרו כסהיו ישראל מחלקון את האין חיה רוסכה של יריחו חמש מאות אמה על חמש מאות אמה והניחורת מלחלוין אמרו מי פיבנה בית המקרם בחלקו הוא יטלנו ובין כך ובין כך נתגוהו לבני יתרו ליומרב בן רכבו דרך פלפת יתים מהלך פלפת יתים הלכו ביום חחר פהיה

> וארן ברית י'ב וס' נסעל וברום . לא כשו בקרב יש פבוקים שית בורן הדין סבן זכון הפובת וסב ויח בנסע הארן - דה העם בכתאמנים - יורדי הם באניות - המה ראו מעשי יי - ויאמר מעמר רוח - יעלו שם סירדו יחנו וינעו בשכור . ויצעם אל ייבוצי שופך בוז על מדבים . וסקרין אבין ודקן שבחורה : קוםה ב'

הקבה חפן להכטם לארן מדי וארח בריתי נוסב לפניהם ודרך פלפת ימים.

אם קארון היוכא מתהם למלחמה וכו מברי לוחות מונחים ותידי לפניהם דרך מלמתיתי לידון להם חכייה ותכן יי עליהם יומס. מכעה עבנים כתוכים במסעיהם ארבעה מארבע ד רוחות ואחר למעלה ואחר למטה ואחר לפניחם ממיך את ה

הנבוה ומנביה חת הכתוך והורג נחמים ועקרבי ויהיבנסוע עמה לו ديردا -פיתניות תלפניו ו זה מקומו ולמה נבתב כאן כרי להפסיק בין פורענות לפורענות וכו כראית בכל כיקם הקרם: קומה יי לפי מהיה מקרים

לפניהם מהלך שלפה

ימים היה מסה אמר ממוד והמתן לנו ואל נג הנול ונולר ולנוונון בוייקהל: ויפוכו אוכיך . המכונבין: ויכוסו מסכאיך. אלו הרורפי מסכאיך. אלו סוכאייסרא סכל המוכא את ישר שוכא את מי סאתר והיה

העולם פל ומפכאיך כפאוראם ותי הם על פתך יעריתו סוד: מוכייי מנחס תרגמו אמא לפון מרדוב וכן במונה ונחת תומעון ו רבבות אלפייםראל יתניד מאין המכיכה פורה ביפרא פחותים מסני אלפים וסתי ר ויהי העבם רנבות: כמתאוכני . אין העם אלא רספי וכן הוא אותר תה אעםה לפם הזה ואות העם הרע

קרואים שני של שלחשתי שני מה שביתי לך : במתאוננים י אין מתאננים אלא

לפרן עלילה מבקפים עלילה היאך לפרום מאחרי המקום וכן הוא אומר בפתפת בי תואנה החל מבקם: רע ביוניי י תואנה מהיא רעה ביווני יו מתרבוונים מתבא ביוזכיו ויהכיט אמרו איי לכו כמה ליבנכו בדרך הזה שלם ימים שלא כחכו.

יותה בייתלך עפנו ותיהי הפוב וּונוֹי אָרִי שׁנוֹלְ אֹפּׁלֹא וּנוֹיְיּסָׁכֹּא תַהוא דִי יוִמֶיב יַיְעָכָגַא וְטִׁמִיב הַדְּ הַהוא אַשָּׁר יִיטֵיב יְהוָה עַמַנו וְהַשָּׁכְנוּ ו ונטלו סטורא דאתוליעלותי לַרָּי וַיִּסְעוֹמָהַריהוֹה דָרָדְשְׁלְשָׁת וְכָרָא דַיָּ מְבַלְרְ הִלְרָא חֹמִן מֹץ פון ימים וְאַרוֹן בַרִית יְהְוֹהנִסְעַ רְפָנִיהָם וֹאַרָון בֹּהֹסאַ בֹהְ נְמֹּלְ בֹּנֹמִיוּן דָרָךְ שְׁלְשָׁתִיִמִים לְתִוּר לְהַם מנוחַה למנילר עוליה יוףיו לאיוללארי ַנענן יהוה עליהם יומם בנסעם וֹתֵבוֹ בְּשִׁלְּבוֹיִי : נְתַבוֹ בְשְׁ מּבוֹיִי : לחון אַתרבית מישָׁרֵי וּ וַיהיבּיסע בישידי מן המחנה: ם יָּקָרָא דְיִי, עַרִיהְוֹן בִיסָּטָא י של ייי הארן האבר משה קובהי יהנה ויפער איביר וינסו משנאיר מפניד: בְסִינֵירְהוֹן מְן סְשְׁרִירָוְאוּ וְחָנֶחָ בְּםִיפֵל אַרוֹכָא וַאָּמֶר אָיָבִירַוְיָנָסוּמְשַנְאָירָמָבּנָידָ: וערקון בעליר רבבר סן קרפר ו משומים ובניהה יאבלי שובה יהנה רבבורה וערקון בעליר רבבר סן קרפר ו משומים אלפי ישראל: ובָסִשְׁרָוֹתִי אֲכָרָ תַּוֹב חֵׁ שְׁרַר ר ליהן יו היהיהעם בבתאצים רע באוני יהוה יא מאחרו למר פאן ביקרך בנו רבוף אלפיא וישמע יהוה ויחר אפו ותכער כּם ניהלאן ו אש יהוהות אכל בקצה הְבְּיִרְנָה : מסת פר ססתקפיו ביש פונם " וייצעקהעם אל משהויתפלל משרו וֹשְׁפַיַע בָּרָם הְּ וֹתְקִיף רוּגְוַיה וּ التلاظه فديرا بمشته فالطنسير وياعمه ויקרא אל יהוהותשקע האש: ושיניאת בסיפי בשריתאו ואותו שם הַפַּקום הַהוא תַבערה בִי־בָערָה ַעָסָא עַר בּשָּׁה הְצֵלֵי בּשָׁה בַּ<del>וָרַם הַ</del> יהאספסף אַשֶּׁר בם אשיהוה: ואשתקעת אשתא ווקרא שפאר בַּקרבו הָתָאַווּ תַאַדָר וּיַשְבוּ וַיִּבְכוּ لغلام تشمانة لترظئه تخد וליקח בחון אשתא פו ברם יו וליליים נס בני ישראל תיאברו בי יאבלנו זַבַּרנוֹ אַת הַרְנָהאַשֶּר־ בשר: וערברבין די ביניהון שיבילו

> במעם כילרע וס' סובה "רפרצו . פובה "אלחים לנחוך י וכיל חודולות דכוו בבא כילעיל וס' ודווק כין ושוו: שוכה ה בטעמ כי רעוסים וכנוזה אבר שוכח - פוזות בער פשעיך - שובה יי והלצה נפסי - וחצום עול עבריך. באפיקים בנגבי ואחה ועתה יח בפע חברין וסם ואחה חבוא אל אבתיך בשולם. ועתה ישבו נא עבריך בארץ גשן - ועחה נמשטיבשה אין כול - אס רע בעיניך אשובה לי - צודה את נפשי - ברח מן ושרץ בעל אכשלום. ארוני הפוד יושבירושלם. תכקש לדנודות . אתנבלותה יאכלם חדש את חלקהם - נאספו עליה עמים - נעתה חלו נא" - נעתה כח נאכר אלחנו דעורא - ועתחיש בסוה לישראל -בחליים רבים - מותה תעולה אוחם ירושלם - קחנא ברכה :

לְסָנֶא עַינְנֶאוּ וַסַּנָא בְּבַר וְרַענִינֶא הַוֹאוֹחוֹנִיה בְּתִין בְּחֹלְתָא ו

שובילתים ותבי וכבו ביף בני לישוי נאבל במערים הנסאת הקשאים ואת

ו דְּכִירִין אֲבַּרְטָא'תַ עונָיָא נַ הְּצִּיִה הַאַרְהַאוֹבִים: וְעַתְהַבְּפְשֵׁנוֹיְבַשָּׁה

הַאַבְּטָׁחִים וָאַת־הַחַצִיר וָאַת־הַבְּצַלֵים

אַין כָל בּלֹתָי אָל־הַפֵּן עֵינֵינו : וְהַפָּׁן

בורע גור הוא ועינו כעין הברלח:

קומה מי בררך בני אדם לשתור להלחם - ונועם ויפובו כאפר יראו פרותו לשבויון מלחמה מיד יפוט ארביך . מלח מסכאיך מהבנין הכבר פנוסף והבון קל להקל על הלפחן ייפונו וינוסו . כדרך כל הנבואות לכפול בתלות מסוכות כאפר אפרם בערסת בלעם: ובנחה. בנוח הארון הכתב בהא כמו הא אהלה כי אתיות אהוי מתחלפים ו פובה מי אמר

אכן עזרא

רבי יהורה העדידין הרולפון כיכל סב פטמתו תבורת תמוכה הא פועל עומר ולא יכא בבבין הקל רון אם היה טעמו בטלוח והמקט כמו במוכ' וסות תומשן וכן מוניה יי רבמת אלפי יפרש בדניחסולא ירגוו מאויב. ורע כי רבנה מנזרת רב והנמם כתו רבבה כצמה הסרה נתתיך ויתכן פהקרא בסרת אלפים כן בשבור היותו מספר רב על כן נסמכה מלת רבבות לאלפי ומסה התפלל מינית ויפקום הפש כל יפראל ואם הם רבים: ויהי העם . נסמכה זו הפרסח כי אחר פנסע הארון מהר סיני חמ בקברות התלוה והנה ספר מח פארע פסי כמתאונגיםי מבורת און וכן מחסם אוכך. וטבס ויפתב יי פרברו דברי ארן • ותאבל · מלפיל בתו וייאתר ובמוכרת מלרע הפך הלפון רקכן מכאמי ויכעין העם אל מפח בפיוםי ותסקע האם. בנגנט ותכנס ואין לו אחרי תכברה עד אפרעכו:

והאספסוף - מנאספו אל ימרא ואונם תחם וחם ערב רב ! והמלח כפולח כמו סחרחר ח חמרמרוי ויסבו ויבבוי אחר התאוח וגם בני יפוראלי פמס : טברטים שנון: נוסם. כוון כאילו היא חנם י הקפואים י באלף תחת הא מקסה כמו מניני תלחים ורבים כן ו אבטיחי ירוב מלפון קרר ואין לו ריע במקרא: חכיר יהירקות פהם עםב הפרה וכן המצמיח הרים והנה הוא מם כלל והמתרגם ארמית אתר שהוא מס פרט גם החל נכח: והכבלי והמווום. ירועים והם קרונים בלמון קרד ו נפסמ יבמה . היא הגכם המתאוה הנטועה בכבר י אין כל יוסרט כל דבר יעינים י בימן הפתים ירד: והמן. ספר הכיון חסרון רעת התתחוי כי המן היה כורע בר והוא הל ללקוט והיה נראה כי הוא לבן ושר כי יוכלו לאכלו כאמר היה בם לנוחמ ברחים ולעמות שבות או לרכוחו ולבפלו בברור נים לו טעם נכטר כמולמר המתן

ועור היה יורד על מקו סקי אחר טירון הטלאת המקום בורע גרי סמוך כתו נטע סעמועת גר ים אמרים בסברתו וים אומרים חרדל מבורת גדין ואכני לא ידעיתיו

יִשְּׁרָאֵל וֹאַכְרוּ כָּוֹ וֹיִכְלִינְנָגָאַבְשְּׁרָא

וּברּאַלִי וִתוּפֵיוּ וּבִעָן נַפְּשָׁנָא

רואיבים ליורו פת סלמם ביניון

בלוהלים אלליו לפאלים פולוים הביב בות ניקהוא ופן בותניא הרן אביהות ולנילה נפשה ? בניתולה צלי ו לבביל

משבו הדרך ו ויוזר אפו . אני הייתו מתכון למובתכם פתכנסו לארץ מידי ביצה המוזכה במיקרן מבהם לפפלות אלו שוב רב רבי פמעון בן מנפא אומר ביציכים מביקן ובגרולים : ויבשין הכם אל מפה ימפל למלך בפר ורם פכעם של בנו והלך הבן אכל אוהבו פל אביו ואמר לו בא וביןם של מאבאי ומפיקע האם . פקשה במקומה פאילו חזרה לאחת הרוחו' היתה תקפלת והולכת כל ארץ חרוח: והאספסף אלו ביב רב פגאספועליהם בבאתם ממכרים ויפובו גם בגי יפראל ויבבו במהם ימי יאכילנו בפר . וכי לא היה להם בבר והלא כבר כאתר מש שרב רב עלה אתם וכאן וסקר עו ואם תאתר אכלום והלא בבניסתן לארן נאתר ומקנה רב היה לבי ראובן על אלא פתבקשים עלילה: אפר כאכל בתצרים חנם. אם תאמר בתצרים נרדנים להם רגים חנם והלא כבר נאמר ותבן לא יכתן להם אם תבן לא היו נוידין לחם חנם תנים היו מתנין להם הכם ותה אומר חכם חכם מן המצוח ו את הקיםואים ו אמר ל ממשן מפני מה התן מפתנה לכל דבר חון מאלו מפני פהן קטים למיניקות אמרים לאסה אל תאכלי מוס ובגל מכרי התכוק מפל למלך כו כראית בספרי יהן מאים הם קונות ברום בלפיו אבניחים בדריקם יהוכיר כריםין פורלים ית בוכילי אובו ב אל התן פינינו תן בסחר מן בסרבי והתן כזרע בר . מי פאמר זו לא אמר זו יפראל אמרים בלתי אל המן פינינו והין בה הביתיב בתורה והמן כזרע בר על כלמר ראב צאי שלם על מה מתלוכנים בני והתן כך וכך הא חסובי כזרע גרי שול כגדא זרע קולייברה יבדולה סם אבן עובה קדיסטלי

וככה הוא ומדרך ע

שנותיהם יתשנו וכל .

מצריתותי הקברכי

בהסנר סעריו לא י

הזכי זה המסוררכי

אפר חש במרבר לא

ושלם יורעי הדרכים

בבשקת המס הוא ל

וכן האפורי לא יוכלנ

כל איפי העולם עד עת

מבור המס ובכק החולים לא יוכלו כל

הרופחים להועילם רק

י ויתנטי חותם

בחת כנב מטרי פאוני

יורוי גם חלה חייכים

וחייבים לובוח כו

החוכה והסבוי הוא

ברוא נגופו והחולה

קרוב ממקי וכתה יוכיר הכת הרביעית:

יורדי כל הולך אל

הים יורד הוא י המח

כי רגע אין יחריר הים

ומיד יטכיהגו כרכהו

• דוגלו שבהל הים

הגלים או יורדי הים ו

יחונו - כימוכף הים

הין בהם כח לכתור

תחבלע. החככה לא

תראה כאינו לא הית"

להם חכמה בתלאכת המיסי וינעקו אמר

יוכיא כי הם בים וואת כל שאלתם. אתר ר

יהורה בן כלכם היח

ראוי נהיות תחת יקם

יםכ והנכון בביני כי

בהחלה את ויכמר רוח

סערה ועתה ייןם ס

סברה כלא רוח אז ת

תהיה לרתמה: ויחסו בליהם - גלי הים הפך

וקרומסגליו ובפכור

כיהגלים יפאו קול על

כן דרך משל לרממה

ויחסוי רסמהו. יורדי

בכפינה או לפכתי

יורדי הים ז יצלו.

להודות: ויובחני

משם לכרו

ולא התנחסים רק

לברו יכול להצילם

יראו אורי וחפקוי

פי - הנה הראה בירונם השבורים לייסרס בעבור שבותיהם ומלת חמרו או מרו קרובה בענם ובכה נאבו מהקל או נאץ טאן הבבר - ואמרי אל הם פיקורי הלב פהפס נעבו בלב כל מדבר י ידו. שביו לבני אדם פילמרוי ויכוע בשול. פיארוניהם יעבדו בהם בפרך ויאן שור לפרוחם וינשקי הזכיר יוטיעם בבטר היותם ביר שהאהם כתו חוסבי יו יוביאם מחסך - הבחוב לתבלח: יכוק. כער אסיריבי וברולי כו - תכן ביולות סברחו מתרינה דלתיה מחסת באינו נסברו - תיה יוביר שחולי הילים . גם הזכיר כי החולי בעבור פסג ותוכחות של עון וכן ברברו אליהוא (נגנס אוילים אפ הס הסכנים הם נחסבו אוילים בעבור פסעם. ומלת מררך מוסכת שבמה ואהרת שמה

ואין עחר ו וסים נמסר בפלכים לפוף סיבן "די ארלים ח'חם יקרפת כליש וסים אך אולים שרי צען -בה רעה אוה - אולים בדרך פשעם - אוהם יליץ אשם - ומוסר אוהם אוהה י ווצמרדעים - ויובוצ זכת תודה רספרו י לספרו נ'וס'יפוטו ויספרו לבניהם 'ניספרו לך דגיוום - ניובחן ובוד

רשו

דסעיד ו

בי המרו אתרי אל . אין פורעבות באהכל הארם אלא במכנו כו פכר רלתות נחפתי פהיו נשלו במניחם יאולים מררך פמנם י אמר משטקיהם יחבבו ביסורי חלאים אף הסמן הצריכון ל לארותי ים פתניות בפרסה א ובחון ליררם במקום חכין ורקין לתכם לותר בעקו קורס באר דיון כעביו לאחר גור דין איכט כענין י יחונו לפון פכר הואוכן בחצוי הפלב וכן והיתה ארתיו יהודה למכרים לחנאי ויפתחו כיים זוקו הגלים: וכחם. וינהנם: מחח. לפחנבול ומכחם חברו עם וחזורדעו את סאול גבולינו פלא יכל בגבולים וכן מחזה מול מחזה פלם פ פבמים ביבחותהו מבחידי וירוממוהו בקהל פם ברי לאורוי באפיבי מפרה וכתופב זקוים וחרין מכייהו צורביו מרבבן י יםם נהרות לתרבר כלותר בותן ייסובי האומות לחורבן : למלחח. להיתבארן מלחח מעשותפריו ישם מרבר לאנם מים מתן יימובחרב לבנית ותחורו לקדמותו וימשעו

חודה ה מכן בנחרות ובקרון אכין ורפן שכחורוו ום נכסו בסרר בהעלוחך: ויעבד ד בקריא וסיכנשטר בטלבי בסם אי ומכצוקותיהם חד כן כדיון רמשמשין וכם ברישיותן וסים ומבקנה ל בני ישראל לא מח אחריום בחבים ל ובחשבון עד רבת הסצמה וממסר ל כל אלהאברם יקרותי ובמשפס ל מערצר וממשם לכח ומכעכדן ל והדשתיך כמעבד ובבעמרך. ומכי ל שמעו זאת כית יעקב. ומכיצרים ל בי נער ישראל וארברני ומסורח'ל פראנ מסער באת שסיי וכבעין ל האתחונבא עליהם. וככקים ל וכבן ראיתי רשעים קבורים. וכבוקרשי ל זקן בחור וכחולה. ומשנהל חרכינדול היוחות מבבר ל בעם לאביו בן בסיל. ומסעסק ל הצילני משטי וסטצוקותיהם יוציאם רביע ויענינא יוםסועצותיה ל ראבלו ז

אַרום סַרִיכוּ עַל מִימְרַיה אָלָהָא בי־המרו אמרי־אול ועצריו עליון וֹסְלָבֶת עִינָאָה רְחִיקִנוֹ וֹחָבֵר נּ נוֹהּ וֹ נַאֲעוֹן: תַּבְנֵע בַעְמֵל לְבָּס בְּשְׁלוֹן אֵין בַנִיעוּנָשׁ לַבָּחוּן אַתְכַוּלוּ וֹלִירוּ עור: ווועקואל יהוה בערלהם וצלי קום יי בועים נוני כים במעוקותיהם יושיעם: יוציאם להון פּסְעִיבַרְהון בְּרָבְשׁוו יייל בַּיַחְשָׁרְרַצַלְבָּיָת וֹמוֹכַרוֹתִיהָסיְנַחַק: אַפּיקינון מַתַּשׁוֹכָא וְטוּלָא רְטוּחָא יודו ליהוה חסדו ונפלאותיו לבני ידורון ושלשלותוזון יתרע ו בִי־שָׁבָּר דֶלְתָות נָחָשַׁר־נ אַרָם: לנם המפול הסביה ומקתען ם י מיל ובריחיברול גרע: אולים בררך בל" פשעם ומשונתיהם יתענו: בל" פַרישותיה לְבְנֵי נְשָׁא: אַרום תְבַר וּשִׁי נְחָשָׁא וְעַבְרֵי פַּרְוֹלָא כַּוְצִיץ וּ פשעם וֹבֶעוֹנְתַיהָם יְתַעַנוּ: על חוָקיָה סְלַךְ שְבַנָּא רבית יהור אָבָל תְתַעַב נִפְשָׁם וְיַנְיעו עַר־שָׁעַרי אָתְנָבֵי נַאֲבַר תִּזְּקִיהוֹ סְלִיךְ דְבֵּירֹז בַּוֶתוּ וַיִּיְּעָקוֹאָל יְיְהוָה בַצִר לָהָם ידענדה רַסָרִיב לְפִיכָב אַתְּהַ אָכָּוּעִיף בפעוקתירם יושיעם:ישלח דברו תוך שִׁטְיַן רְכַאוֹרַת כְּרָדִירוון ד וּםְעוּיִירָהוּן בִּבְּחָגִיבִּין בִּל סִיבְלָא ל י י ל וְיִרְבָּאָבּוֹיִבְּלָט בְשָׁחִיתוֹתָם: יורר ליהוהחסרו וְנְבַּלְאוֹתִיוֹ לְבָנֵי אָרָם: תַּרְתִּיק נַפְּשְׁתּוֹן וֹסַטְיֵין עַר סַּעְלַנֵי מותא: וְצֵלוּ פָּרָם יְיָ בַּרַ עִיִקְלְהוֹן יֹּ גֹּ וְיִיְוֹבְרוֹוְדָבְתַיִּ תוּדָרְ־־גְיִסְבְּׁרָוּ מַעְשֵיוּ סִסְעִיקְתְהוֹן וְפָּרְקִינוּן וְשָׁנֵר רִיּיִהְיִם בְּרְנָה: יוְרְדֵי הַיָּם בָּאָנְיִוּר־וּ עְשֵׁי פּוֹתִּפִי אָסוֹתִיהוּ וְיָפִי יַּוְהַהוֹ וִישִׁוֹכ וִישׁי. שׁ מְלְאַבָּה בַּמַיְסוּבּיִם: המה ראו בְּלְתַּבְלּוּתְהוֹן: יְהוֹדון בַּרָב יָי מעשייהוהונפלאותיו במצולה: סטול נוכריה וסטתעון פריטותיה יאסר וויאסר וויעסר נוח סענה וחלוב לבני נשאו ויכוסון נכסי תורתא וְיָּשָׁתְעוֹן עוֹבֶרוֹי בְרִישָׁתָאוֹ עֵל לֹי בְיִנֹ עַ בְּלִיוֹי יַעַלוֹ שְׁמַיִם יַרְדְוֹ תָהוֹבְוֹת בַּפָשָׁם בַרַעָהתִתְמוֹנָג : יַחוֹגוּ וַיַנוֹעוּ טַלְתַיַּא דִיוֹנָרה בָר אָסַיהַי אָיתנָכָי יי בשבור ובל הכבתם תתבלע: ַנְצֵּסָר מָלָחַיָא נַחוֹתֵי יָכַּא בָאָלְפַיַא עַבְיֵי פּוּלְתָנָא כְּסִיָיוֹ סַבִּיעִיוּ זּ נייגעקו אל יהור בצר להם הינון חַסון עוֹנָדַיְ רַיָּיופְריִבְּוֹחָיה ז פּיון יוֹ וֹמְשִׁצְקוֹתִירָם יוֹצִיאָם: יְקָסְ סְעָרָה בְּסְצוֹלַתָּבְּיוֹ וַאֲפָר בְּסִיְסְרֵיה זְּיִּ לְרְכָבֶּרְ וְיְחֲשׁוֹגַלִיהָם: וִישְׁבְּחְוּ י ביישהקוןינים אל בחוו הפצם: וָאָקיםוַעֶפָאוֹעָלעוֹרַאוֹאַתרוֹכִּםוּ גַּלְלוֹיו כַּלְקִין צֵית שְׁפַיִאנַדְאַין יוֹדָוּ לֵיהֹנָה הַסְּדְוֹוְגַפּלאותִׁיוּ לְכָנֵי עסקי תהוסיא נפשרהון בבישים תְּחְסוֹנְנוּ יְרַהְתוֹן יִנועון הֵיךְ לֹייוּבֹּל אָדִם:נְירוֹכְסוֹהוֹ בַקְהַל עַבּוֹבְבֹּוֹשֵׁב בוויה בחסר וכל חור כתהון ם בי ליה זקנים יהל לוהו: ישםנהרורת

סְכְּתַלַעָמָאוֹ וָצַלוּ קָנִם יֵבַר בני לְמָרְבַרְוֹכֹיצָאִי בַיִם לְצִמָּאון: אָרָץ עיק להון וספעיקתהון יפים י איני ברי לכלהה ברעת ישבי בה : יַתְהוֹן יִיִקִים עַרְעוֹלָא רְשִׁתִיקוֹתָא יִי יִ יִשְׁב בְּרְבָר לַאָגָם בַּיְם וְאָרֶץ צִׁיִר־זּ וַיִּשְׁתַּקוֹן גַּלְלֵיחוֹן ז וְתַּרוֹן אֲרום שָׁקְקְיןוֹרָבָרִיעוֹן ְסְחִוּרְעֻיִיחְהוֹן בְּיִבְּי לְמֹעֲאִימִים: בּיִשְׁרָאִ בִּייוּוּ וְמִיּחִ בִּיוּם וַיָּושָׁבשָםרעַבִים וָיַבתנו עירמושב: וַיִּזְרְעושַרור, יהורון קנים ייַסְטוּל חַכְרֵיה וַיִטְעַוּבְרַבֵּים וַיְעַשׁוּ פָּרֵי תְבוֹאַה: וּםְשָׁתַעוֹ פָּרִישִׁוּתִיהֹלְבְנֵינְטָאוּ ופרופסין יַחֵיה בְּבְנִשָׁת עַפַא בַּית יַשְׁרָצִיל וּבְסַנְהַרְרִין דְתַבָּיסַיִצא וְשִׁבְחוּן וַחָוּה ו על דַרָאוָיוּאַל בַר פּתוּאַל אַתְנבֵי וַאַסר בַר סָרָדו בִירוּיִטְרָאֵל בְּוֹפֵי דְּוֹאֵל נְבִייָּט אַיְתוּ בַצורְתַּט בְעַלפָט שַׁווּ נְהַרְוַוּתָא הַיִּך אַרָעָא וִיִּשְׁרָאֵל דְעַבְרָא פַּירֵי צָּרָא הֵידְ סרום טַרְבָרָא וּסָפַּקָנורו סַיָא הַיך צָהוווָאו דָאַתַהַפּיכָת סָן בִיטות זַתְבָין בַה ז בַּר תָבו לְאוֹרַיִתָא שַנִּי סַרְבָרָא חַיךְ אֲרִיתָארְסַיָּא וַאָרַע וֹאַטְרֵי מַטָּן בָּפִינִים וֹאַחְקְתוּ כַּרְנָזִים סְיִחְנָבְםוּ ציהייאלספקטתסיאו וורעו תַּקַלון וּנְעִיבו כָּרְסַיֵּא וַעַבַרו פַּרִי אָבַא ו

הים כי פזוקו. הגליםי אלתחווי פתובטלוכתוהולא חזו מין פירוש לאבטלו יותי והטעם לאיפיע לרעתסיף ימיוי יודו. חברי - פהצילם: הפלאותי בתכולה: וירותתויה. הוכף להזכיר בעטר שתב בני אדם לא ראו חים יוסם. שב התופורד להזכיר בשרות המש כאילו שושה דבר והפך הדבר כפי חבורת והפלים להזכיר הים ושב להזכיר הבהרות ההולכים אלע ועשם לתרבר ארץ ביה ומוכאיתים הם התפינים: ארץ י סהיתה סמוכה אל הנהר ואל התפיעות סבה לתלחה סלא תודע ולא תבתיח והוביר הסבה מיבשה הסט כילא להגם הואשפה ביותרשת מסגובה יוסם . היכך הרבר יסם מרבר לאנם מים: ומפני. רשבם: פכלכלם בארץ כיה: ומרש פרי תבואה. הכך ארץ כיר למלחתה : ויכרכם

התלחים וחובלי הים ושלחכמתם תוכלעי יפלח דברו פיגור

ומיד יתרכ' לחעל ידי הים יינו מפקה ומצפה בן ארם וחלים נו מכחיקותם מגזרת המחתה או מן כרח

וחנה שמות ויקרא במדבר פוני עד ויפי בנסוע כארון ויםי בנסוע ער כמתחוננים כמתחוננים פר מוף ספר במדבר חנם בדברום סכם ו' שפרים כנגדו יותי כרחשית כנגדו' מועדות', שבכם נתפחת ישראל והם שכת ופסח ועברת ור"ה ויוה"ך וחב בחבות ושם ים עכר וכנגרו אורות הירועים שהם כ בגלים ושנים בעלמים ואין אור חנח תורה שנח׳ ותורה חור והמוני"ן הפוכין ברי שלח ובחל ם"ת ביתר וחסר וכונת המכין בפגדן שברי בינה שבהם נתנבחוגה וכ' שני הוובל הר שני מוכין וכלש לרחון ק' ברכות כלו' שבובות ק' ברכות שחברכין ישרא העולם עומד והכונה בדי שינים לכהן ברכה א' מהתחה כי כחשר יכרך בניה מחום חברה ללני צשרה ולכהן א' ווהו מוד איק ופוד סיחוד במוו כאן ויש דודשום מכם, ב פורעניות וידוע כינ הוי חוקה לכך הפסיק ביניהם פורעמת ח וים צו מהר ה' אררשו בתיקון הבורח מבית הספר בלוחר שחלו כתעכבו שם פחדו שתה יוסף להם חצות החרים וחעפי שנסעו ברשות ח"ת שמחו ופורשנותם שלא נתוספו לחם המצות . ופורענות שכיה ויהי בכמוע שסרסרו אחר הארון והעננים אוקבן תתלוננים ולכן עשה כ' כצורת כאף וכון ז'הרי ב' נונין התחוים לקן נפור וכן זיקנו ואין לבלות יותר חום והארון והעננים הכו בפ' זו לרקון להשנחה סדבקה בהם ומכאן תבין סוד שבינם בתחתונים, ע"ב: וים מפרשים שים מפ חשל ויהוי בנסוע עד למעלה מתנהן ברשיות וחית בסור במדכר חימי בפן אלה פקודי במישרא בחשר יחמו כן יחצו ושם כיה לו להשלים זיחי בנסוצ ולכן כתכ רשו זל שאין וח מקומו וישן פרשיות למתלה כשתחשוב פכוקים של ברכת כהנים כל פסוק פרשה כאשר הם כס"ת ולכן היא הן הפוב" כלומר שישן' פרשיות למעלה ממקום וה. ובם התחונה כתב ובוד הנוכין ההפוכין הם כנגד היבוד ולפי ששם חוזרין הנשמות וחין למקום זה פבק בתחתו לכך נהפכה שנ"ון . והוא אחרם במופלא מתך אל תררוש ואמ מוציאין כב' פשוקים אלו כפ' א' וב קיבות כנגד פסוק ולכל היד החוקה שיש בו ג"כ זב היבות ובפ" ושניוח יש כו ו'תיכות כתבדו'תוכית שכם'ברחשית (הול'לכתוב נ החילה וכנחה שהוא כמבד בראשית ושני לו ויהי בנפוע שהו' כמבד פ האחרון של תורה ולכל חיד החוקה ולפי בתב הנו"ן הפוכה כלו", כי הבתיבה הפוכה שלא כסדה לחסרון דעתיכו אבל לידיעתו יתב" כפרר הם כתוכים כי רחו תחולה היד החוקה' שהיא כנבר ויהנ בנסוע שרותו אל הברי' כסרד וחתושל, על העולם. וחח"כ כתב ובנחה שהוא כנגד פ'בראשית "שהם ג"כ כנגד . מנוחת הנשתה בעולם הנשחות והם הנבד ו'דקישים ולב גבולי חלכפון וו'ספירו' ווב נירופים וחמו חין לכן לסכול ולהכין דברים חלו ע"ב דחיתו בסוד בסוקים אלו ובכונין לי ואלהים יאיר עילינו בשאור תורתו

בב עוד שארת אס היו מהלכין כתיכה או בקורה =

תשובה ווב כ מחלוקת כניור נחמיה וכיור וחשים "ר'נחמיה שבר בתיבה היו מהלכין ומפיק לה כאשר יחנו כן יסעו ופדר תנייתן יהודם במורח שנילו רחו בדרום - וכנגד יהודה היה דגל יוסף בתערב חשום דשבינה בתערב בנגד יראוכן היה דגל דן כנפון והמשכן כאמנע ... ולדעת ד'יאשיה היו הולכין כקורה ומפיק לה מאסף לכל המחמות כו יירוב שמו שילך . כקורם תחצא דן מחסף והוא אחרון . והלכה בתיבה היו חהלבין והכריחני לפשוק ככה על סדר סור חנייתן ומסען כיף"ח חלח על י אופן וה כסדר מרככה העליונה ודרשו ע"ה בכסוק ויקראלו אל אלהי ישראל הקב"ה קרחו ליעקב אל וא"ל אני אוה בעליוני ואתם בתחתונים כשה שהקב"ה רוכב על ד'חיות כך יעקב נשח חרבש אחיות וכשם שיש לנועלה וכ גבולי אלכסון כך היו לו ליצקב וב שבטים וכשם שחלק הקב"ה ממשלת הצולם ביד ע שרים כך היו יוצאי ירך יעקב ע'נפש לדעת האומר כי יוכבר נולדה כין החומות וכשם שהקב"ה למעלה חושל ושליש על הכל כנרמו כפ"חשר חלק ם' אלהיך אותם לכל העתים כך היה יעקב למעלה תהע" וכשם שום תרכבה ד'בנים שהם פנו ארוה כנו אדם כנו שורפני נשר כנו" בתרכבת יחוקאל ע"ה כך כזה יבקב לבניו לנשאו שנאתר ויעשו לו

ירשו יורשי בלום המחות האלחנת כלא שבועה שלא כתיה שלא נתקבלה מכתובתה כלום לתכתובתה יכיון שלא נשבע בחייה שלא כתקבלה מכתובתה כלום לא מכן שכיין שלא נשבע בחייה שלא כאמת של וכול מו הרון אינה באימת שבן התבה אבל נהבן להשביעה יותוריםו אל הרשב"ן ילל בתשבות בהיים אל הרשב"ן ילל מקב בלא שבועה בתים לחיים מכתבה זו אל מבני הריים ואלי בתיבתה בלא שבועה בתים לא לשל בריבום לא אבדו ויודשיה בתובתה דלא עברי כה תריים לל לשל בריבום יהיורשים ששבעו שבועת הים משל מותה בתיבתה בלא מבועה בתיבתו ללום להבל הריבום יהיורשים ששבעו שבועת הים האלתנה בלא שבועה יהיו היורשין תפסירין כלום בשל אלי מתה האלתנה בלא שבועה יהיו היורשין מפסירין כלום בשל אלי מתה האלתנה בלא שבועה שלחרת שיש בו ג' בתים שנים על עם לבענין התצרן שאתרת שיש בו ג' בתים שנים בנין אלי מתכי בבנין

הכותל אשר לגד השוק בשוה כיון שאין לא' כו השתחשו 'יתירה של הכיו כי אם גדר בעלתא אין מתכין לפי גידל הבתים וקשון בת' השית בלי השתחשו בכי השנר כובין זה לוה לבנות דלת ולעשות בין שצר לחצר ר"ל ההכתוע א' מכני החצר חלעשות עניונים או הביריו כובין אותו על כך לעשות וכן כתב הרתב"ם זל בפ"ה מהלכות שבמים והופיף עוד וכן בל דברים שהחצר גדיבה להם הלכל או נכת' אם בשוה או כפי גודל הבתים וקשון. והוראה הדברי קלת התפרשים שנותנין בפי תחון כיון שהוא שחירה לבית ואין א' תהן משתחש בו יותר תחבורו לכן טוב הוא שיששו בשרה ואם יואל והקל ותקן בשתיכתו בין מחון ביון שום לא' תחון יותר מחבירו בריך ליתן בשתיכתו יותר תחבורו. ואם תחונם שוח מתכיך בין בשהי בוותנין בשהי בין בין בין אום בין ליתן בשתיכתו וותר תחבורו. ואם תחונם שוח מתכין בשה בין בין בין בין אום בלא מתון יותר מחבירו בריך ליתן בשתיכתו וותר תחבורו.

ם ובענין הצפורים שאחרת אם מחורים או החורים או החורים או החורים של לקנת ביש לקנת ביש לקנת בר תפו במורים ביש לקנת בר תפו במורים ביש לא מחור בר תפו בבת כש לאלו טריפות וכ"כ הרהכ"כ ול ואם אימו יודע כודאי שהוא עוף טהור בודק כםי שנתבו חול ולכם שלם בי

נקורת אל איש משכיל נקר רבי עמון יצא מתנכל בקר רבי עמון יצא מתנכל בקוח.

מתנכל בקוח.

מתנכל בקוח.

הגישוני שאלמין הנכונים הגבוהום בתקרה. שמחתי בראותי בהסאורה. כמיש רבש אכל מיערם: וכנרי ונכאת אדה. הבנתי דבריך הנכונים ושלום ה' נקרא. ולרוב אהבתף וחברתך אשר בעיני אשר בלכי משכרה ותפורה. לתלאת רכובן ודעתר אשר בעיני אשר בלכי משיראה ליבנש מווכה ורות נשברה בי ואניבה אפרה בלכים ואניבה לבחר בלכים ואניבה

שאלת ישמרך השומר אחת לעולם הצנין הכונין שלת שפרשת יוהי בנסוע מה הוא כונת המננין שפרשת יוהי בנסוע מה הוא כונת המננין יוהי היוחים ואלא כרי להשפיק בין יוהים ומוחו אלא כרי להשפיק בין פורענות לשורענות:

תשובה בוה ארוכה אלא שאני מוכיר לך ראשו ברים מוכיר לך ראשו ברים מוכיר לך ראשו ברים מוכיר לברים מוכיר לברים מוכיר לברים מוכיר של ברים שבת מפני שהוא פשר ברים לפפר שנתחק ונשתיירו בים "ברים לאותיות ב' ויהי בנסוע הרי הוא משתא את הירים ברישי ברים דרש מול אלון ברים בראשוי בב"ת . שור דרשועל פסוק חוכה עתוריה ז' אלון ביסום בראשוי